
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 
Ty Wessell, Chairman 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
The Executive Board Session of the Leelanau County Board of Commissioners will be held on 

Tuesday, May 14, 2024, at 9:30 a.m., in the Commissioner Meeting Room,  
Leelanau County Government Center, Suttons Bay, Michigan 

(Please silence any unnecessary cellular/electronic devices) 
(Proceedings of the meeting are being recorded and are not the official record of the meeting; 

the formally approved/accepted written copy of the minutes will be the official record of the meeting.) 

AGENDA 
CALL TO ORDER  PAGE # 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
MOMENT OF SILENCE/PRIVATE PRAYER 
ROLL CALL 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA / LATE ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS  
COMMUNICATIONS, PROCLAMATIONS, PRESENTATIONS : 

• Administrator Update, Richard Lewis, Interim Administrator 

o Tower Update
o Former Leelanau Memorial Hospital

• Preservation Society – Poor Barn

PUBLIC COMMENT (3 Minutes-Agenda specific) 
COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
ACTION ITEMS 

1. Sheriff’s Office
a. MCOLES - Recruitment and Implementation Agreement
b. Cherryland Humane Society Contracts
c. Special Event Contracts
d. Marine Safety Grant Acceptance

2. Probate / Family Court – Secure Keyed Access for Courtrooms
3. Drain Commission – Leland Dam Plan
4. Senior Services – In-Home Care Provider Recommendations
5. Planning –

a. Materials Management Plan/Intergovernmental Agreement
b. Remonumentation Peer Group Agreement
c. Remonumentation Peer Group Agreement – County Representative
d. Remonumentation Surveyor Services Agreements
e. LCLBA Appointment

6. Veterans Affairs – Soldiers and Sailor’s Relief
7. Equalization – Tax Rate Request for Summer 2024
8. Administration –

a. GTB 2% Tribal Grant Application Submissions
b. Summer Maintenance Staff
c. Myles Kimmerly – Wood Chip Labor Install
d. Creation of Finance Department
e. 2024 Budget Rules Amendment
f. Point Broadband Revised Agreement

REVIEW OF FINANCIALS 
SPECIAL REPORTS BY STAFF, COMMISSIONERS, AND AFFILIATED AGENCIES 
PUBLIC COMMENT (5 Minutes) 
COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
APPROVAL OF FINANCIALS 

• Amendments & Transfers

• Miscellaneous Fund Transfers and Amendments

• Claims and Accounts

• Post Audit
ADJOURNMENT 

A live streaming of this meeting will be available for viewing via the following link – 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCNQTgIgcTedF2qB8floC1GQ?view_as=subscriber 

There are two ways to provide public comment during the meeting – you can attend in-person, 

or email your comments prior to the meeting to clerk@leelanau.gov 

2-10

11-15
16-30
31-35
36-39
40-43
44-49
50-52

53-81
82-90
91-99
100-129
130-173
174
175-177

178-197
198-201
202-210
211-222

223-227
212-222

1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCNQTgIgcTedF2qB8floC1GQ?view_as=subscriber
mailto:clerk@leelanau.gov


Steve Stier, Empire Township.  
Representing the Leelanau County  
Historic Preservation Society (LCHPS) 
And 
Joint Barn Use Committee (BUC) 
 
Leelanau County established the Poor Farm in 1901 with the purchase of the 
Burke farm, about one mile west of Maple City. In 1911, the existing barn 
burned and was replaced by the current Gambrel, Bank Barn. Farming ceased 
in the 1950s and little maintenance was performed on the barn after that, 
and after that time several serious structural problems arose.  
 
Over the 50 intervening years the County Commissioners gave little attention 
or funding to maintain the barn. It was clear that they thought it was a 
liability. The barn was allowed to deteriorate to the point that citizen’s 
committees were formed to attract interest to the barn.  
 
As early as 2002 Leelanau County Citizens groups formed and were meeting 
to save the barn and determine a use for the Poor Farm Barn. There was a 
commitment from this committee to save the barn. The meetings came up 
with many uses, but all the suggested uses required public use, having 
people inside the barn. Citizens that participated between late 2002 and 
early 2003 were: 

Jim Bardenhagen, Barb DuVall, Sara Cady, Glen Noonan, Rosie 
Steffens, Frank Hayes, Don Welch, Jean Watoski, David Gill, 
Laura Quackenbush, Bob VanDyke Trudy Galla, Patrick Hobbins, 
Sarah Lucas and Jeffrey Reinhardt. 

 
Specific uses that were mentioned during this series of meetings were: 

Flea Market, Talent Shows, Farmers Market, Cultural Museum, 
Teen Center, Dances, A part of the Leelanau Historical Museum, 
Glen Noonan specifically said it should be a Farm Museum. 
 

2



                                                                                                            
These suggestions make it clear that county residents wanted the barn 
saved, and used for public assembly. As no specific use was ever determined 
and it was obvious that the county would not be a source of funding, interest 
dwindled. After another 15 years of deferred maintenance, the County Board 
of Commissioners advertised to get rid of the building. 
 
In February, 2017, the Leelanau County Board of Commissioners sent out an 
RFP to contractors for an estimate of cost to demolish the Poor Farm Barn. 
Only one bid came in and it was for around $60,000. This gave the 
commissioners pause, as they had no intent to spend that much to demolish 
the barn. 
 
As a result of the RFP and response, Steve Stier, of Empire Township, a 
founding member of Michigan Barn Preservation Network, was immediately 
joined by Barbara Siepker and Laurel Jeris, who were researching the history 
of the Poor Farm. These three established the Leelanau County Historic 
Preservation Society (LCHPS) as a nonprofit 501c3 organization specifically to 
save and reuse the barn. LCHPS negotiated a 6-month moratorium with the 
County Board of Commissioners to develop a proposal to save the barn and 
rehabilitate it. The LCHPS proposal eventually resulted in a lease 
arrangement of 25 years for the barn and the surrounding 2 acres, between 
the County and LCHPS.  

Page one of the lease states:  

“Lessee shall rehabilitate and maintain all historic structures 
found on the premises and shall collaborate with the Parks and 
Recreation Commission to ensure the same are incorporated into 
the Leelanau County park system.”  

The Lease Agreement also states “A six-person committee will be 
created to determine the specific usage of the barn and any related 

3



activities. Membership of this committee will be comprised of the 
Chairperson of the Leelanau County Parks and Recreation 
Commission, two members of the Myles Kimmerly Park 
Subcommittee, with one of the members being a County 
Commissioner, and the President and two members of the 
Leelanau County Historic Preservation Society. 

 
From the beginning, LCHPS has held the goal and vision of using the barn as a 
venue for recreational, educational and entertainment events, as they 
believed this would be the highest and best use of the barn to serve the 
citizens and visitors of the county. They agreed that larger private events 
such as weddings or reunions would not be appropriate and not allowed. 
Only low key public educational events would be allowed. 
 
The question of porta-johns came up during discussions about four years 
ago. As part of LCHPS due diligence we were told the question of bathrooms 
at the Poor Farm Barn for events was up to the township. LCHPS spoke with 
Greg Julian, Kasson Township Supervisor at that time, and were told that 
Porta Johns would be OK for activities in the poor farm barn. Based on that 
information LCHPS continued to fulfill requirements of the lease.  
 
As required by the lease, the Barn Use Committee, (BUC) was formed in 2022 
to determine the use of the barn, as specified by the lease. Members 
attending were: 

Casey Noonan Rick Robbins, Don Frerichs, Steve Stier, 
Barbara Siepker and Tom Patton. 

 
At subsequent meetings, the committee elected Steve Stier as chair and has 
discussed several specific uses at length, and determined again that the best 
desired uses will require a change in use to Public Assembly group A-3.  
 
During early 2023 LCHPS planned for a public event at the Poor Farm Barn on 
May 27th. The Leelanau County Building Safety Department let it be known 

4



that proper bathrooms must be installed if people were to be inside the 
barn. Porta Johns would not be allowed for people to be in the barn. 
 
Later in 2023 LCHPS voted to appeal the decision of the Building Safety 
Department. LCHPS paid $200 application fee.  
On December 6th, 2023, The Barn Use Committee also voted to appeal the 
decision. Appeal meeting date was April 11th 2024. The application was 
denied on May 2nd, 2024. 
 
On March 29th 2023 Don Frerichs, member of the County Parks and 
Recreation Commission, submitted a Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 
Submittal Form requesting $65,000 for adding toilet facilities to the Poor 
Farm Barn. This amount was to be matched by LCHPS $65,000. 
 
Don and LCHPS fully expected some notification and information regarding 
the submittal, however none was forthcoming. Knowing very little about the 
CIP process this lack of response has been very disappointing and frustrating. 
 
Both LCHPS and the BUC fully believe that the County must take some 
financial responsibility for improving a facility that they own and will benefit 
from an improved facility. 
 
When LCHPS began requesting funding from the County we were told that 
the County does not have the money to spend on the Poor Farm Barn. Later 
we were told that to get funding, we must submit a CIP, which we did. 
 
The costs of construction to build the required toilets that will allow public 
assembly in the barn are very high and both LCHPS and BUC have been 
struggling to find appropriate funding. 
 
We have come to understand that though the county has funds available, 
many other CIP requests get higher priorities than any coming from Parks 
and Recreation Commission. Parks and Recreation Commission has been 

5



historically under-funded. We request that during the coming year the 
County Commissioners correct this, and decide that if you want a high-
quality park system you must be willing pay for it. 
 
 

6



1

Lauren Cypher

From: Richard Lewis
Sent: Tuesday, May 7, 2024 1:39 PM
To: Lauren Cypher
Subject: FW: Leelanau County Poor Barn - revised response

Add this memo to the packet 

On May 3, 2024, at 2:34 PM, Kama Ross <kross@leelanau.gov> wrote: 

 Yes, I get all this, but there are so many historic structures being used for events throughout different 
ownerships in LC (Preserve Historic Sleeping Bear’s Olsen Barn, Old Settlers Park building, buildings on 
the NPS, DNR lighthouse, countless wedding venue barns).  I understand that the barn changed use from 
storage to events and that caused the reclassification.  The events planned for the barn are for 
educational purposes only, maybe 6 events per summer, and with small audiences (definitely less than 
100).  I’m sure the group will continue to call any events held at the county park a “Barn Tour” and just 
take people through to experience the history they have captured there.  You just can’t put a bathroom 
in the hay mow or the milking parlor and still have an authentic 1900 Michigan barn.  There is no way a 
properly placed ADA compliant port-a-john would not be a viable solution if we try to make it 
happen.  Leelanau County granted the organization a lease to save and enhance the barn and now leave 
very little room for them to initiate the incredible educational opportunities they want to pursue.  I 
chose not to live in a community that says “no” so easily to great ideas.  I’m digging myself a hole but I 
can’t not stand up for us coming together for a better solution.  This group of stellar volunteers deserve 
that I try harder to support their mission - one that was embraced by a former BOC.  We didn’t tear it 
down, we gave them permission to raise money to restore and now we say “you can’t share it with the 
community.”  I don’t get it. 

Sent from my iPad 

On May 3, 2024, at 2:03 PM, Richard Lewis <rlewis@leelanau.gov> wrote: 

Good afternoon Kama, 

7



2

Here is the response to the inquiry you made to the Amber earlier this week. I did 
review the situation with Amber this morning and they are willing to work with the 
applicate as indicated below. Being this is a County own facility does add a small 
wrinkle; we have to be assured that all codes and ordinances are being upheld, if not it 
gets difficult to enforce others to do so on their property – local government is held to a 
higher standard. Not easy. 

Richard 

From: Amber Weber <aweber@leelanau.gov>  
Sent: Friday, May 3, 2024 10:45 AM 
To: Richard Lewis <rlewis@leelanau.gov> 
Subject: Leelanau County Poor Barn - revised response 

Hi Richard, 

Please see below for my revised response. Also attached is a copy of the final decision 
made by the Leelanau County Construction Board of Appeals.  

Good Morning Kama, 

Thank you for reaching out. The questions posed cannot be answered by the Building 
Safety Department as we cannot, and are not responsible for, the design of projects. 
The Building Safety Department cannot tell applicants how to design their project. Our 
Department reviews plans to determine if they are compliant with current State of 
Michigan Codes. We also offer pre-construction meetings during which a project can be 
discussed, once a set of plans have been drafted by a design professional licensed with 
the State of Michigan. 

A pre-construction meeting was held for this project with Mr. Stier and Architect, 
Michael Leaveck, on July 20, 2023. During the meeting Mr. Stier stated that the 
Leelanau County Historic Preservation Society would like to hold events in the barn. This 
would be a change in use classification of the barn as it is currently approved for storage 
only. At that time there was discussion regarding the requirement for bathrooms as well 
other code requirements for an Assembly Use. Mr. Stier asked if porta johns could be 
used instead of permanent fixtures, meaning bathrooms. Porta johns cannot be used, as 
they do not meet the minimum fixture requirements in the State of Michigan Plumbing 
Code for an Assembly Use. At the close of the meeting Mr. Stier indicated that the 
project would be placed on hold and the application was withdrawn from review.  

On March 8, 2024, Mr. Stier submitted an application for the Leelanau County 
Construction Board of Appeals related to the decision made by the Building Safety 
Department during the pre-construction meeting. Specifically, the appeal was regarding 
the requirement for permanent bathrooms. Please refer to the attached Final Decision 
from the Leelanau County Board of Appeals. The Leelanau County Construction Board of 
Appeals denied the appeal requested by Mr. Stier on behalf of the Leelanau County 
Historic Preservation Society, as the Board of Appeals does not have the authority to 
waive code requirements and it was their determination that the alternative method of 
compliance (porta-johns) was not code compliant. 

8



3

There are many paths that can be taken to achieve code compliance. While these may 
seem like simple questions, the overall use of the structure and occupant load play a 
role in providing answers. Further dialogue with Mr. Stier and the design professional 
for this project can resume after plans reflecting the proposed change of use, code 
compliant bathrooms and other code requirements related to an Assembly Use have 
been submitted. 

Thank you, 

Amber Weber 
Building Official 
Leelanau County Department of Building Safety 
8527 E Government Center Drive, Suite 109 Suttons Bay, MI 49682 
(231) 256-9806

<Final Decision Notice.pdf> 

9



 
LEELANAU COUNTY BUILDING SAFETY DEPARTMENT 

8527 E. Government Center Dr.   Suite 109 
Suttons Bay, MI 49682 

Phone: (231) 256-9806         Fax: (231) 256-8333 
E-mail: buildingsafety@leelanau.gov      website: Leelanau.gov 

 

 

May 2, 2024 
 
Leelanau County Historic Preservation Society 
P.O. Box 331 
Empire, MI 49630 
 
 

FINAL DECISION OF THE LEELANAU COUNTY BUILDING SAFETY BOARD OF APPEALS  
 
On March 8, 2024, The Leelanau County Building Safety Board of Appeals (“the Board”) was presented with an 
application for a Construction Code Appeal submitted by Steve Stier of The Leelanau County Historic Preservation 
Society against the Leelanau County Building Safety Department. The Leelanau County Historic Preservation Society 
seeks an appeal from 403.1 of the 2018 Michigan Plumbing Code. The Board reviewed the application and all 
supplemental materials provided and considered the matter at a public meeting held on Thursday, April 11, 2024 at the 
Leelanau County Government Center.  
 
Steve Stier attended the meeting and spoke in support of the appeal. Amber Weber, Leelanau County Building Official; 
Curt McNitt, Leelanau County Plumbing/Mechanical Inspector and Charlie Sessoms, Leelanau County Building Inspector 
attended the meeting and spoke against the appeal.  
 
Following discussion, a motion was made, supported, and passed unanimously by the Board to affirm the Leelanau 
County Building Safety Departments’ decision, and to deny the Leelanau County Historic Preservation Society’s request 
to appeal the Board. The Board determined the alternative method presented did not meet code and they do not have 
the authority to waive code requirements. The Board also determined that additional information and plans will need to 
be submitted to the Leelanau County Building Safety Department regarding the proposed change of use for the 
Department to provide further assistance as the project moves forward. 
 
THEREFORE, it is the final decision of the Board to affirm the Leelanau County Building Safety Department’s decision 
denying the Leelanau County Historic Preservation Society’s appeal to the Board. Judicial review of this decision may be 
pursued as permitted by law. 

10

mailto:buildingsafety@leelanau.gov


MCOLES POLICE ACADEMY SPONSORSHIP 

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 
Authority MCL 408.478 

 

Name of Sponsored Recruit Employee Date of Agreement 

  

 

This MCOLES POLICE ACADEMY SPONSORSHIP REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 
(“Agreement”), made this ________ day of _____________________, 202__, by and between Leelanau 
County and the Leelanau County Sheriff’s Office, a Michigan municipal corporation (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as the “Sheriff”) and the above listed Sponsored Recruit Employee.  

 WHEREAS, the Sheriff  has made a conditional offer of employment to _____________________    
(the “Sponsored Recruit Employee”).  One of the conditions of the conditional offer of employment is that 
the Sponsored Recruit Employee attend and successfully complete an approved Michigan Commission on 
Law Enforcement Standards (“MCOLES”) Basic Police Academy ("Police Academy").   The Sponsored 
Recruit Employee has accepted the conditional offer of employ; and  

 WHEREAS, the Leelanau County Sheriff and the Leelanau County Board of Commissioners 

authorized a program to sponsor voluntary attendance at an approved MCOLES Police Academy for 
otherwise eligible applicants.  Under this program, the selection of which applicants (if any) to sponsor by 
payment of Police Academy tuition cost shall be within the sole discretion of the Sheriff.  The Sheriff's 
decision shall be final and binding and not subject to review or challenge through any Leelanau County 
Collective Bargaining Agreement Grievance Procedure, or Personnel Policy Grievance, or otherwise; and  

 WHEREAS, the Sheriff has offered the Sponsored Recruit Employee the voluntary opportunity to 
participate in this Program, including the advance payment of costs of the MCOLES Police Academy 
tuition, and payment of a stipend under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  In addition to the 
tuition and stipend, the Sheriff will incur substantial expenses in the process of field training the Sponsored 
Recruit Employee; and 

WHEREAS, in addition to tuition and subject to provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act, the 
Sponsored Recruit Employee shall also be eligible to a gross stipend equal to regular base wages in the 
gross amount of  $22.38 per hour for an 80 hour two-week pay period while attending the Police Academy. 
Such time is not considered hours worked under the FLSA and, as such, no overtime shall be owed or paid 
for hours attending the Police Academy; and  

WHEREAS,  the tuition costs for the Police Academy required for the Sponsored Recruit 
Employee to obtain a license under the Michigan commission on law enforcement standards act, 1965 PA 
203, MCL 28.601 to 28.615 funded pursuant to the terms of this Agreement are made in anticipation of the 
Sponsored Recruit Employee continuing to work for the Sheriff for at least four (4) years from the 
completion date of the training; and 

WHEREAS, Michigan Public Act 390 of 1978 (MCL 408.478) was amended with immediate 
effect on June 13, 2023 to allow Michigan Law Enforcement Agencies to enter into agreements with 
Sponsored Recruit Employees for repayment of costs incurred for sponsorships should the Sponsored 
Recruit Employee fail to remain in the employment of the law enforcement agency for a specific time (4 
Years); and 

WHEREAS, the Leelanau County Sheriff's Office agrees to provide sponsorship to the above 
named "Sponsored Recruit Employee" under the following terms and conditions that must be agreed upon 
by the "Sponsored Recruit Employee." 

11



 NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree to the following terms and conditions for this Sponsorship 
Reimbursement Agreement:  

TERMS AND CONDITIONS:           

1. The Sheriff will directly pay the tuition costs attributable to the Sponsored Recruit Employee for 
the Police Academy program required for the Sponsored Recruit Employee to obtain a license under 
the Michigan commission on law enforcement standards act, 1965 PA 203, MCL 28.601 to 28.615 
at an approved Police Academy.  The Sheriff shall also pay the Sponsored Recruit Employee a 
Stipend as described herein while the Sponsored Recruit Employee is attending and in good faith 
seeking to successfully undertake the Police Academy program offered by MCOLES. If grant 
funding is available, the Sponsored Recruit Employee will cooperate in any measures necessary to 
obtain such funding.  

2. The Parties stipulate that entry into both the program and this Agreement is voluntary.  The 
Sponsored Recruit Employee could forego the tuition, stipend and  requirements of this agreement 
and elect instead to personally bear the time and costs associated with attendance at the Police 
Academy.  

3. Upon completion of the Police Academy and upon certification from the MCOLES, the Sponsored 
Recruit Employee agrees to commence and continue to be employed by the Sheriff’s Office for not 
less than four (4) consecutive calendar years following MCOLES certification. In the event the 
Sponsored Recruit Employee does not timely commence employment with the Sheriff or fails to 
fully and successfully satisfy  the remaining conditions of the conditional offer of employment the 
Sponsored Recruit Employee agrees to reimburse the Sheriff’s Office for the full or partial tuition 
costs incurred by the Sheriff’s Office and,  if the tuition costs are partially or fully grant funded, 
any portion of tuition or partial tuition costs which may be deemed reimbursable to the grant 
funding unit.  This reimbursement is up to and not exceeding the salary for the first year of 
employment with the Sheriff.  Payment shall be due within ninety (90) days of separation from 
employment with the Sheriff’s Office.   

4. The Sponsored Recruit Employee agrees to the following terms for repayment of costs incurred by 
the Sheriff's Office should the employee voluntarily leave employment and take a position with 
another Michigan Law Enforcement agency in which they would remain licensed under MCOLES. 
Costs may be collected under the following terms set under MCL 408.478: 

 
 

 
Less than 1 year 

If the employee voluntarily leaves employment with the Sheriff’s Office not more 
than I year after the date of the employee's law enforcement training academy 
ended, 100% of the cost of the law enforcement training academy up to and not 
exceeding the employee's salary for the first year of employment with the law 
enforcement agency, 

 

 
100% 

 
More than 1 year, 

but less than 2 
years 

If the employee voluntarily leaves employment with the Sheriff’s Office more than 
1 year but less than 2 years after the date the employee's law enforcement training 
academy ended, 75% of the cost of the law enforcement training academy up to and 
not exceeding the employee's salary for the first year of employment with the law 
enforcement agency. 

 

 
75% 

 
2 years or more, 

but less than 3 
years 

If the employee voluntarily leaves employment with the Sheriff’s Office 2 years or 
more but less than 3 years after the date the employee's law enforcement training 
academy ended, 50% of the cost of the law enforcement training academy up to and 
not exceeding the employee's salary for the first year of employment with the law 
enforcement agency, 

 

 
50% 

12



 
3 years or more, 

but less than 4 
years 

If the employee voluntarily leaves employment with the Sheriff’s Office 3 years or 
more but less than 4 years after the date the employee's law enforcement training 
academy ended, 25% of the cost of the law enforcement training academy up to and 
not exceeding the employee's salary for the first year of employment with the law 
enforcement agency. 

 
 

25% 

 
5. To the extent permitted by Wage and Hour laws, the Sponsored Recruit Employee expressly 

authorizes Leelanau County to deduct any reimbursement amount owed under the terms of this 
Agreement from future pay checks at the time of or following voluntary termination of employment 
by the Sponsored Recruit Employee including, but not limited to as accrued vacation, comp time, 
sick time, annual leave or personal leave or wages due. The Sponsored Recruit Employee shall 
promptly pay Leelanau County the full balance of any amount owed that is not deducted from their 
paycheck(s). 

6. In the event that the Sponsored Recruit Employee voluntarily terminates his or her Police Academy 
training or is removed from the Police Academy for any reason, the Sponsored Recruit Employee 
will reimburse the Sheriff’s Office for the full or partial tuition costs paid by the Sheriff’s Office,  
and,  if the tuition costs are partially or fully grant funded, any portion of Police Academy tuition 
or partial tuition which may be deemed reimbursable to the grant funding unit.   

7. This Agreement is subject to 2023 PA 44, the interpretations thereto, and any amendments thereto 
which may be given retroactive effect, including but not limited to the current statutory requirement 
that “remuneration or consideration from the employee will be waived by the law enforcement 
agency if the employee is not required to be licensed as a law enforcement officer under the 
Michigan commission on law enforcement standards act, 1965 PA 203, MCL 28.601 to 28.615, 
within any of the following:  

(i) One year after leaving employment with the law enforcement agency. This subparagraph 
applies if the employee voluntarily leaves employment with the law enforcement agency 
not more than 1 year after the date the employee’s law enforcement training academy 
ended. 

(ii) Two years after leaving employment with the law enforcement agency. This subparagraph 
applies if the employee voluntarily leaves employment with the law enforcement agency 
more than 1 year and less than 4 years after the date the employee’s law enforcement 
training academy ended.” 

Pursuant to the current interpretation of the law, the Sheriff’s Office will waive repayment for 
allowable costs should the employee voluntarily leave their employment for a position which would 
not require them to be a licensed police officer as set forth by MCOLES within any of the following: 

A. One year after leaving employment with the law enforcement agency. This subparagraph 
applies if the employee voluntarily leaves employment with the law enforcement agency 
not more than 1 year after the date the employees law enforcement training academy ended. 

B. Two years after leaving employment with the law enforcement agency. This subparagraph 
applies if the employee voluntarily leaves employment with the law enforcement agency 
more than 1 year and less than 4 years after the date the employees law enforcement training 
academy ended. 

C. Should the employee again regain employment as a licensed police officer within the State 
of Michigan after the approval of a waiver, the former employee shall be responsible for 
repayment as allowed by law. 

13



8. The Sponsored Recruit Employee will be paid a stipend based on a  straight 80 hours per pay period 
while attending the MCOLES Police Academy. The rate for 2024 will be $22.38 per hour. This is 
consistent with the current collective bargaining agreement for this classification. Such time is not 
considered hours worked under the FLSA and, as such, no overtime shall be owed or paid for hours 
attending the Police Academy.   

9. The Sponsored Recruit Employee will not be compensated for any travel time to and from the 
MCOLES Police Academy. 

10. The employer will not provide any funding for accommodations such as lodging for any portion of 
the training, unless it has been provided for through an approved MCOLES Grant. 

11. The Sponsored Recruit Employee will be responsible for their own meal expenses. 

12. The employer will provide a vehicle or mileage for travel to and from the MCOLES Police 
Academy. If a vehicle is provided a fuel card will also be furnished. 

13. The intent of this Agreement is to provide for the training of the Sponsored Recruit Employee as a 
certified Sheriff’s Deputy and to specify the consideration that the Sponsored Recruit Employee 
provides the Sheriff’s Office in return for the training.  This Agreement shall not be construed in 
any way  as an employment agreement that would proffer a right or interest to the Sponsored Recruit 
Employee or otherwise alter the at-will nature of the employment relationship or alter any 
applicable collective bargaining agreement. 

14. Any action brought on or with respect to this Agreement or any other document executed in 
connection herewith or therewith by a party to this Agreement against another party to this 
Agreement shall be brought only in a court of competent jurisdiction in Leelanau County, Michigan 
or the Federal District Court for the Western Division of Michigan.   Each party to this Agreement 
(a) consents to jurisdiction in these stipulated courts; (b) waives any objection to venue in any of 
these stipulated courts; and (c) waives any objection that any of these stipulated courts is an 
inconvenient forum. In any action commenced by a party hereto against another party to the 
Agreement, there shall be no right to a jury trial. THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IS 
EXPRESSLY WAIVED TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW. 

15. This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the State of Michigan. If any provision or part 
of a provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid by any tribunal of competent 
jurisdiction, such part shall be deemed automatically adjusted, if possible, and if not possible, it 
shall be deemed deleted from this Agreement as though it had never been included herein. In either 
case, the balance of any such provision and of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:           

I, the above-named Sponsored Recruit Employee, hereby acknowledge that I have read, understand and 
agree to the terms and conditions set forth in this MCOLES Police Academy Sponsorship Employment 
Agreement. 
 
    
Sponsored Recruit Employee Signature Date  
 
 
APPROVED BY:     
 Sheriff or Undersheriff Date 
 
 
 

14



STATE OF MICHIGAN  ) 

    ) ss. 

COUNTY OF LEELANAU ) 

 
The foregoing employment agreement was acknowledged before me on this __________, by 
_______________________ who is personally known to me or who has produced a Michigan Drivers License as 
identification and who did (did not) take an oath. 
 
Signature of Notary: ______________________________________ 
 
Commission in Leelanau County  

Acting in Leelanau County 
Commission Expires: 

15



Department Approval: __________________________________________ Date: ____________________________  

EXECUTIVE DOCUMENT SUMMARY
Department:___________________________________

Contact Person: ________________________________

Telephone Number: _____________________________ 

Submittal Dates 

Select Meeting Type: _________________________

Date of Meeting: ______________________________

Financial/Source Selection Method
Vendor:______________________________________

Address/ 
Phone: 

 ____________________________________________ 

Select One:__________________________________

Other: _____________________________________

Account No.: __________________________________

CIP Project?

If Grant, Match Account No.: ________________________

Budgeted Amount: ____________________________  Contracted Amount: _______________________________ 

Document Description 

Request to Waive Board Policy on Bid Requirements Department Head/Elected Official Authorization 

Suggested Recommendation: 

16



Agreement between the 

Cherryland Humane Society and the County of Leelanau 

for Boarding and Placement of Impounded Dogs 

 

 This Agreement is entered into this _______day of ______2024, and is effective January 1, 2025, 

by and between  the Cherryland Humane Society, a 501(c) (3) nonprofit corporation, located at 1750 

Ahlberg Road, Traverse City, Michigan 49696 (“Humane Society”); and County of Leelanau, a municipal 

corporation, with offices located at 8527 E. Government Center Drive, Suttons Bay, Michigan 49682 

(“County”) . 

 It is agreed between the Parties as follows: 

1.  Scope of Agreement.   

For purposes of this Agreement, “impounded dog” shall include all the following:   

 a) dogs captured, accepted, seized, held, and/or confined by the County, whether under  

  the authority or laws of the State of Michigan or any Michigan County, City, Township,  

  or Village, or court order, and delivered to the Humane Society; and 

 b) dogs subject to quarantine after a bite incident; and 

 c) dogs held by the County in connection with its animal welfare program.  

An impounded dog, as defined above, shall be and continue to be an “impounded dog” for purposes of 

this Agreement until (a) the County or the owner (or owner’s authorized agent) retrieves the dog from 

the Humane Society, or (b) ownership of the dog is transferred to the Humane Society.  Any dog subject 

to this Agreement shall be the financial responsibility of the County during its county-related tenure with 

the Humane Society until ownership of the dog is transferred to the Humane Society, or released to the 

owner or owner’s authorized agent at the direction of the County, as set forth in Section 7, “End of 

Impoundment.”  

2.  Contracted Boarding Space.   

The Humane Society shall reserve two fully operational and appropriately maintained kennels at its shelter 

facility located at 1750 Ahlberg Road, Traverse City, Michigan (the “contracted boarding space”) for use 

by the County for its impounded dogs.  The County shall have unrestricted access to the contracted 

boarding space for the purpose of delivering impounded dogs.   

3.  Acceptance of Additional Impounded Dogs.   

In the event that the contracted boarding space is full, the Humane Society agrees to make a reasonable 

attempt to accept for boarding at its shelter additional impounded dogs, taking into account the size and 

needs of each dog, the other animals at the Humane Society, and space considerations.   

 

 

17



4. Boarding and Care of Dogs.   

The Humane Society shall provide safe and clean kennels and appropriate care, including proper food, 

bedding, and adequate water, for all impounded dogs.  The Humane Society, at its discretion, may hold 

an impounded dog in its public kennel and accept adoption applications pending the dog’s release of 

ownership to the Humane Society. 

5.  Dogs Subject to Rabies Quarantine.   

The Humane Society agrees to quarantine any impounded dog within the County-appropriated space 

when quarantine is specified in the intake record prepared by the County for a period of up to 10 days, 

including weekends and holidays, or for any court-ordered period.  The County understands and agrees 

that the Humane Society does not and will not conduct rabies testing.   

6.  Veterinary Treatment for Impounded Dogs.   

The Humane Society will facilitate the provision of any veterinary care for impounded dogs at the County’s 

expense, subject to the County’s right to pre-approve expenses as set forth below.  In the event that a 

veterinarian determines that an impounded dog requires emergency treatment for life-threatening 

injuries, psychological injuries, physical injuries of a nature that holding the dog without pain management 

for the anticipated period of impoundment would cause undue suffering, or for a communicable disease, 

the Humane Society may obtain the services of a veterinarian who may treat up to but not including 

euthanization of the dog.  Euthanization may be permissible but this decision must be made by the County 

after taking into account all circumstances regarding the dog such as a stray hold status.  The Humane 

Society will seek pre-approval of any other necessary (but non-emergency) veterinary care.  If there is any 

question about whether veterinary care is “necessary,” the County agrees to consider the Humane 

Society’s experience and reasonable judgment in matters of dog health.  

The County agrees to reimburse the Humane Society for veterinary expenses incurred for the provision of 

all emergency treatment of dogs deemed necessary by the Humane Society, up to a maximum of $450.00 

(four hundred and fifty dollars) per incident and per dog.  Any additional expenses for emergency 

treatment or any other veterinary care which has not been pre-approved shall be the responsibility of the 

Humane Society.  The County further agrees that when veterinary care is needed prior to delivery of the 

dog to the Humane Society, such treatment will be arranged by the County at the County’s expense.   

7. End of Impoundment.   

The County may direct the Humane Society to release an impounded dog to its owner or owner’s 

authorized agent, or transfer ownership of the dog to the Humane Society.  In the case of a dog that has 

been quarantined at the Humane Society, if the owner or agent fails to retrieve its dog from the Humane 

Society within the quarantine period and the Humane Society wants to keep the dog as its property, the 

Deputy shall provide a signed relinquishment form to the Humane Society. If the Humane Society does 

not want to keep the dog, the dog will be picked up by the Deputy and returned to its owner or the owner’s 

agent, or the Humane Society will be provided with a Court Order stating the conditions in which it must 

continue to be held. 

 

18



At the end of the statutory impoundment period, ownership shall transfer to the Humane Society, unless 

longer impoundment is requested by the Deputy. Once ownership of a dog has been transferred to the 

Humane Society, it may dispose of the dog as it sees fit, and it shall be responsible for all expenses related 

to that dog as of the time of the transfer of ownership forward. 

8.  Records.   

The County agrees to keep records identifying and tracking all County dogs impounded by the County, 

completing all required County portions of the intake form (Addendum A).  The County shall work 

alongside the Humane Society concurrently to ensure an appropriate process is in place for intake 

forms/records/health records, and restitution documentation. 

When a dog is released by the Society to its owner or their authorized agent, the Humane Society agrees 

to acquire a photocopy of the driver’s license and telephone number (when available) of the person 

receiving the dog, and send a copy of that person’s driver’s license and phone number to the Deputy. If a 

driver’s license is not available, the address of the person claiming a dog will be obtained and sent to the 

Deputy. 

The Humane Society shall keep records which identify all (a) dogs received from the County in each 

calendar month, (b) the veterinary services provided for each dog while impounded by the County, (c) the 

charges for those veterinary services and, (d) the disposition of each dog after the statutory impoundment 

period or quarantine period. Every quarter during the term of this Agreement, the Humane Society shall 

send a copy of the records kept under this section to the County. 

Upon notice of not less than 72 hours, (which may be verbal), representatives of County shall have the 

right, at any time during normal business hours, to review all the Humane Society’s books and records 

including the general ledger, accounts payable, income statement, and balance sheet, relating to this 

Agreement.  All expenses related to any such review shall be exclusively borne by County for purpose of 

this Agreement, unless such review reveals an overpayment of any fees or other amounts in which case 

the Humane Society shall pay for the review, provided, however, the Humane Society’s liability for the 

cost of this review shall not exceed the lesser of the cost of the review or twenty times the amount of any 

overpayment made by the County, plus a refund of any such overpayment.  Payment by County of a fee 

or other amount hereunder shall not constitute a waiver of County’s right to subsequently dispute the 

amount thereof.  If County and the Humane Society determine that any portion of the base monthly fee 

(as further described in Section 10, “Payment for Services”, of this Agreement) or any other amount was 

improperly paid to the Humane Society, the Humane Society shall refund such improperly paid fee 

together with interest thereon from the time when such fee was paid to the Humane Society within five 

(5) business days after receipt of notice from County to the Humane Society.  If there is any dispute 

between the parties regarding whether or not any payments of the base monthly fee or any other amount 

were proper, such disputes shall be resolved by following the dispute resolution process described in 

Section 18, “Dispute Resolution Process”.  

9.  Notice of Impoundment.   

The County shall be solely responsible for providing any notices required for impounded dogs under state 

or county law, including but not limited to notice to apparent owners.  

 

19



10. Payment for Services.

The County shall pay a base monthly fee each month this Agreement is in effect to ensure the availability 

of the contracted boarding space and for cost of care of boarded dogs, not including veterinary expenses 

due under this Agreement.  For the calendar year 2025, the base monthly fee shall be $220.00 (two 

hundred twenty dollars) per kennel, for a total of $440.00 (four hundred forty dollars); and for the 

calendar year 2026, the base monthly fee shall be $230.00 (two hundred thirty dollars) per kennel, for a 

total of $460.00 (four hundred sixty dollars). This amount shall be in addition to any reimbursement for 

all other fees, costs, and expenses incurred by the Humane Society pursuant to the terms of this 

Agreement.  In addition to veterinary expenses incurred pursuant to this Agreement, commencing on the 

fifth day that a dog is boarded and continuing every day thereafter until the dog is removed from the 

shelter or ownership is transferred to the Humane Society the County shall pay $11.00 (eleven dollars) 

per day for each impounded dog being boarded at the Humane Society, whether it is boarded in the 

contracted boarding space or elsewhere at the shelter..  Each month, the Humane Society shall provide 

the County an itemized invoice for all daily fees and veterinary expenses due under this Agreement for 

the preceding month. The County shall pay all invoices properly submitted under the terms of this 

Agreement within 30 days of receipt unless the County disputes the amount of the invoice.   

11. Collecting Monies from and Returning Dogs to the Public.

The collection of all monies from the public on account of any and all impounded dogs shall be the sole 

responsibility of the County, whether arising from a court case or otherwise.  

The County agrees that it shall work with Humane Society staff to develop and implement policies and 

procedures to help ensure that owners of impounded dogs contact the County prior to claiming a dog 

from the Humane Society, and that the public is informed of these policies and procedures.   

12. Shelter Hours of Operation.

The Humane Society agrees to maintain normal hours of operation for shelter services, unless those hours 

are altered because of unforeseen circumstances or “Acts of God” or “Acts of Nature.” 

13. Animal Advocacy.

The Humane Society shall not be required at any time to release any dog for medical research or for any 

other purpose inconsistent with the Mission Statement or Statement of Principles and Beliefs of the 

Humane Society. 

14. Non-exclusive Agreement for Services.

Nothing in this Agreement precludes the County from boarding impounded dogs at another facility or 

utilizing another means of adoption for dogs that are under the ownership of the County.  

15. Independent Contractor.

The Humane Society is an independent contractor with the County providing a service to County 

dogs surrendered, seized, or obtained by Animal Control. The Humane Society shall control and direct 

any and all aspects of the work contemplated under this Agreement that pertains to the organizational 

makeup 

20



and function of the Humane Society. The County shall not attempt to control, direct, or oversee, in any 

way, the performance of the Humane Society or any assignee, agent or employee of the Humane Society 

outside the scope of this Agreement.  Impounded dogs under this Agreement remain the responsibility of 

the County until ownership of the dog has been transferred to the Humane Society.   

16.  Non-Assignment.   

Neither party may assign its duties and responsibilities under this Agreement. 

17.  Term of Agreement.   

The term of this Agreement shall be for twenty-one months, commencing on January 1, 2025 and 

concluding on September 30, 2026, at which time this Agreement shall expire.  Should the parties wish to 

contract for services after the expiration, a new contract will be required.    

18.  Dispute Resolution Process  

If there is any question or dispute between the parties regarding the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement, or the application of those terms and conditions, the parties shall meet and use best efforts 

to reach agreement in order to accomplish the objectives of this Agreement. Failure to meet or 

meaningfully participate in discussions under this section shall itself be deemed a breach of this 

Agreement.  Should these efforts fail to result in agreement, the parties agree to non-binding mediation 

with a mutually agreeable mediator or, if no agreement on a mediator can be reached, through random 

selection from the 13th Circuit Court’s list of approved mediators.  Fees assessed by this mediator shall 

be shared equally. 

19.  Force Majeure  

Neither party will be liable for failure to perform any obligation owed under this Agreement if that failure 

is proximately caused by an “Act of God” (such as unforeseeable and not reasonably preventable fire, 

flood, or tornado), war, government mandate, pandemic, labor dispute, or similar circumstance. 

20.  Notice.   

When required under the terms of this Agreement, notice shall be deemed to have been made when 

delivered personally or by first class mail to the following: 

Notice to County:     Notice to the Humane Society: 
Leelanau County Sheriff’s Office    Cherryland Humane Society  
8525 E. Government Center Dr.    Attn:  Executive Director 
Suttons Bay, Michigan 49682    1750 Ahlberg Road  
       Traverse City, Michigan 49696 
21.  Waiver and Amendment.   

Any modification to this Agreement and any waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be in 

writing and signed by both parties. 

 

 

21



22.  Compliance with Other Laws; Nondiscrimination.   

The parties agree to comply with all State of Michigan, Federal and local laws and regulations, including 

the Dog Law of 1919 and any county animal control ordinances. The parties, as required by law, shall not 

discriminate against a person to be served or an employee or applicant for employment with respect to 

hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to 

employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity 

or expression, genetic information or disability that is unrelated to the individual’s ability to perform the 

duties of a particular job or position, height, weight, or marital status.  Breach of this section shall be 

regarded as a material breach of this Agreement.   

23.  Whole Agreement.   

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and shall be deemed to supersede 

and cancel any other agreement between the parties relating to the transactions contemplated in the 

Agreement. None of the previous and contemporaneous negotiations, preliminary drafts, or previous 

versions of this Agreement leading up to its execution and not set forth in this Agreement shall be used 

by any of the parties to construe or affect the validity of this Agreement. Each party acknowledges that 

no representation, inducement, or condition not set forth in this Agreement has been made or relied on 

by either party. 

24.  Severability.   

If this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement is held by a court to be invalid or unenforceable, it 

shall be ineffective only to the extent of the invalidity, without affecting or impairing the validity and 

enforceability of the remainder of the provisions or the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

25.  No Third-Party Beneficiaries and Grand Traverse Band Dogs.   

The parties do not intend to confer any benefits on any person, firm, or corporation other than the 

Humane Society and County.  Notwithstanding this statement, so long as the Society is party to a Boarding 

Agreement with the Grand Traverse Band of Ottawa and Chippewa Indians, the Society will receive stray, 

abandoned, Court Order held, or relinquished dogs from lands owned or controlled by the Grand Traverse 

Band of Ottawa and Chippewa Indians pursuant to the Grand Traverse Band Boarding Agreement 

conditions and the County Agreement for Animal Control Services with the Grand Traverse Band.  The 

Society understands and respects that Indian land is sovereign and is not considered a part of Leelanau 

County.  Communication related to dogs received by the Society from the Grand Traverse Band will be 

directed to Grand Traverse Band personnel. 

26.  Governing Law and Venue.   

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Michigan and venue shall be in Grand 

Traverse County, exclusively. 

27.   Effective Date.   

The contract is effective January 1, 2025 and terminates September 30, 2026.   

 

22



28.  Signatories.  

By signing below, the Signatories warrant that they have authority to enter into this Agreement on behalf 

of their respective parties.  

LEELANAU COUNTY 

   

________________________________  _______________ 

By: Ty Wessell     Date    

Its: Board of Commissioners Chairman 

 

________________________________    ________________ 

By: Michael Borkovich    Date 

Its: Leelanau County Sheriff 

 

CHERRYLAND HUMANE SOCIETY 

 

________________________________  _______________ 

By: Heidi Yates     Date 

Its: Executive Director 

 

CHERRYLAND HUMANE SOCIETY 

 

________________________________  _______________ 

By:  Bruce Vargo     Date 

Its: President 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM FOR COUNTY OF LEELANAU:  

COHL, STOKER & TOSKEY, P.C. 

By: Jennifer L. Bliss       

On: April 18, 2024 

N:\Client\Leelanau\Agreements\Cherryland Humane Society\CHS Draft 1-1-25 through 9-30-26 (002) jlb v1.docx 

23



Agreement between the 

Cherryland Humane Society and the County of Leelanau 

for Boarding and Placement of Impounded Dogs 

 

 This Agreement is entered into this _______day of ______2024, and is effective January 1, 2025, 

by and between   the Cherryland Humane Society, a 501(c) (3) nonprofit corporation, located at 1750 

Ahlberg Road, Traverse City, Michigan 49696 (“Humane Society”); and County of Leelanau, a municipal 

corporation, with offices located at 8527 E. Government Center Drive, Suttons Bay, Michigan 49682 

(“County”). 

 It is agreed between the Parties as follows: 

1.  Scope of Agreement.   

For purposes of this Agreement, “impounded dog” shall include all the following:   

 a) dogs captured, accepted, seized, held, and/or confined by the County, whether under  

  the authority or laws of the State of Michigan or any Michigan County, City, Township,  

  or Village, or court order, and delivered to the Humane Society;and 

 b) dogs subject to quarantine after a bite incident; and 

 c) dogs held by the County in connection with its animal welfare program.  

An impounded dog, as defined above, shall be and continue to be an “impounded dog” for purposes of 

this Agreement until (a) the County or the owner (or owner’s authorized agent) retrieves the dog from 

the Humane Society, (b) the Humane Society accepts ownership, or (c) the dog departs the Humane 

Society for transfer to another organization.  Any dog subject to this Agreement shall be the financial 

responsibility of the County during its county-related tenure with the Humane Society and until such time 

as the dog either leaves the shelter or the Humane Society accepts ownership or it is released to the 

owner or owner’s authorized agent at the direction of the County, and is the  “End of Impoundment.”  

2.  Contracted Boarding Space.   

The Humane Society shall reserve two fully operational and appropriately maintained kennels at its shelter 

facility located at 1750 Ahlberg Road, Traverse City, Michigan (the “contracted boarding space”) for use 

by the County for its impounded dogs.  The County shall have unrestricted access to the contracted 

boarding space for the purpose of delivering impounded dogs.   

3.  Acceptance of Additional Impounded Dogs.   

In the event that the contracted boarding space is full, the Humane Society agrees to make a reasonable 

attempt to accept for boarding at its shelter additional impounded dogs, taking into account the size and 

needs of each dog, the other animals at the Humane Society, and space considerations.   

 

 

24



4. Boarding and Care of Dogs.   

The Humane Society shall provide safe and clean kennels and appropriate care, including proper food, 

bedding, and adequate water, for all impounded dogs.  The Humane Society, at its discretion, may hold 

an impounded dog in its public kennel and accept adoption applications pending the dog’s release of 

ownership to the Humane Society. 

5.  Dogs Subject to Rabies Quarantine.   

The Humane Society agrees to quarantine any impounded dog within the County-appropriated space 

when quarantine is specified in the intake record prepared by the County for a period of up to 10 days, 

including weekends and holidays, or for any court-ordered period.  The County understands and agrees 

that the Humane Society does not and will not conduct rabies testing.   

6.  Veterinary Treatment for Impounded Dogs.   

The Humane Society will facilitate the provision of any veterinary care for impounded dogs at the County’s 

expense, subject to the County’s right to pre-approve expenses as set forth below.  In the event that a 

veterinarian determines that an impounded dog requires emergency treatment for life-threatening 

injuries, psychological injuries, physical injuries of a nature that holding the dog without pain management 

for the anticipated period of impoundment would cause undue suffering, or for a communicable disease, 

the Humane Society may obtain the services of a veterinarian who may treat up to but not including 

euthanization of the dog.  Euthanization may be permissible but this decision must be made by the County 

after taking into account all circumstances regarding the dog such as a stray hold status.  The Humane 

Society will seek pre-approval of any other necessary (but non-emergency) veterinary care.  If there is any 

question about whether veterinary care is “necessary,” the County agrees to consider the Humane 

Society’s experience and reasonable judgment in matters of animal health.  

The County agrees to reimburse the Humane Society for veterinary expenses incurred for the provision of 

all emergency treatment of dogs deemed necessary by the Humane Society, up to a maximum of $450.00 

(four hundred and fifty dollars) per incident and per dog.  Any additional expenses for emergency 

treatment or any other veterinary care which has not been pre-approved shall be the responsibility of the 

Humane Society.  The County further agrees that when veterinary care is needed prior to delivery of the 

dog to the Humane Society, such treatment will be arranged by the County at the County’s expense.   

7. End of Impoundment.   

The County may direct the Humane Society to release an impounded dog to its owner or owner’s 

authorized agent; or, in those cases where the County has acquired ownership of an impounded dog, the 

County may elect to transfer the impounded dog to another organization or offer to transfer ownership 

of the dog to the Humane Society.  The Humane Society shall notify the County within 72 hours whether 

or not it will accept ownership of a dog.  The Humane Society reserves the right to refuse to accept 

ownership of any impounded dog. For any impounded dog that has been offered to the Humane Society 

and the Humane Society has declined to assume ownership, the County shall begin the process in good 

faith of transferring the dog out of the Humane Society in a timely fashion to ensure the dog has limited 

operational and fiscal impact on the Humane Society or the County. 

25



In the case of a dog that has been quarantined at the Humane Society, if the owner or agent fails to 

retrieve its dog from the Humane Society within the quarantine period and the Humane Society wants to 

keep the dog as its property, the Deputy shall provide a signed relinquishment form to the Humane 

Society. If the Humane Society does not want to keep the dog, the dog will be picked up by the Deputy 

and returned to its owner or the owner’s agent, or the Humane Society will be provided with a Court 

Order stating the conditions in which it must continue to be held. 

8.  Records.   

The County agrees to keep records identifying and tracking all County dogs impounded by the County, 

completing all required County portions of the intake form (Addendum A).  The County shall work 

alongside the Humane Society concurrently to ensure an appropriate process is in place for intake 

forms/records/health records, and restitution documentation. 

When a dog is released by the Society to its owner or their authorized agent, the Humane Society agrees 

to acquire a photocopy of the driver’s license and telephone number (when available) of the person 

receiving the dog, and send a copy of that person’s driver’s license and phone number to the Deputy. If a 

driver’s license is not available, the address of the person claiming a dog will be obtained and sent to the 

Deputy. 

The Humane Society shall keep records which identify all (a) dogs received from the County in each 

calendar month, (b) the veterinary services provided for each dog while impounded by the County, (c) the 

charges for those veterinary services and, (d) the disposition of each dog after the statutory impoundment 

period or quarantine period. Every quarter during the term of this Agreement, the Humane Society shall 

send a copy of the records kept under this section to the County. 

Upon notice of not less than 72 hours, (which may be verbal), representatives of County shall have the 

right, at any time during normal business hours, to review all the Humane Society’s books and records 

including the general ledger, accounts payable, income statement, and balance sheet, relating to this 

Agreement.  All expenses related to any such review shall be exclusively borne by County for purpose of 

this Agreement, unless such review reveals an overpayment of any fees or other amounts in which case 

the Humane Society shall pay for the review, provided, however, the Humane Society’s liability for the 

cost of this review shall not exceed the lesser of the cost of the review or twenty times the amount of any 

overpayment made by the County, plus a refund of any such overpayment.  Payment by County of a fee 

or other amount hereunder shall not constitute a waiver of County’s right to subsequently dispute the 

amount thereof.  If County and the Humane Society determine that any portion of the base monthly fee 

(as further described in Section 10, “Payment for Services”, of this Agreement) or any other amount was 

improperly paid to the Humane Society, the Humane Society shall refund such improperly paid fee 

together with interest thereon from the time when such fee was paid to the Humane Society within five 

(5) business days after receipt of notice from County to the Humane Society.  If there is any dispute 

between the parties regarding whether or not any payments of the base monthly fee or any other amount 

were proper, such disputes shall be resolved by following the dispute resolution process described in 

Section 18, “Dispute Resolution Process”.  

 

 

26



 

9.  Notice of Impoundment.   

The County shall be solely responsible for providing any notices required for impounded dogs under state 

or county law, including but not limited to notice to apparent owners.  

10.  Payment for Services.   

The County shall pay a base monthly fee each month this Agreement is in effect to ensure the availability 

of the contracted boarding space and for cost of care of boarded dogs, not including veterinary expenses 

due under this Agreement.  For the period of this contract,  the base monthly fee shall be $230.00 (two 

hundred thirty dollars) per kennel, for a total of $460.00 (four hundred sixty dollars)  . This amount shall 

be in addition to any reimbursement for all other fees, costs, and expenses incurred by the Humane 

Society pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.  In addition to veterinary expenses incurred pursuant to 

this Agreement, commencing on the fifth day that a dog is boarded and continuing every day thereafter 

until the dog is removed from the shelter or ownership is transferred to the Humane Society the County 

shall pay $11.00 (eleven dollars) per day for each impounded dog being boarded at the Humane Society, 

whether it is boarded in the contracted boarding space or elsewhere at the shelter. Each month, the 

Humane Society shall provide the County a line itemized invoice for all daily fees and veterinary expenses 

due under this Agreement for the preceding month. The County shall pay all invoices properly submitted 

under the terms of this Agreement within 30 days of receipt unless the County disputes the amount of 

the invoice.   

11. Collecting Monies from and Returning Dogs to the Public.   

The collection of all monies from the public on account of any and all impounded dogs shall be the sole 

responsibility of the County, whether arising from a court case or otherwise.  

The County agrees that it shall work with Humane Society staff to develop and implement policies and 

procedures to help ensure that owners of impounded dogs contact the County prior to claiming a dog 

from the Humane Society, and that the public is informed of these policies and procedures.   

12.  Shelter Hours of Operation.   

The Humane Society agrees to maintain normal hours of operation for shelter services, unless those hours 

are altered because of unforeseen circumstances or “Acts of God” or “Acts of Nature.” 

13.  Animal Advocacy.   

The Humane Society shall not be required at any time to release any dog for medical research or for any 

other purpose inconsistent with the Mission Statement or Statement of Principles and Beliefs of the 

Humane Society. 

14.  Non-exclusive Agreement for Services.   

Nothing in this Agreement precludes the County from boarding impounded dogs at another facility or 

utilizing another means of adoption for dogs that are under the ownership of the County.  

 

27



15.  Independent Contractor.   

The Humane Society is an independent contractor with the County providing a service to County dogs 

surrendered, seized, or obtained by Animal Control, and shall control and direct any and all aspects of the 

work contemplated under this Agreement that pertains to the organizational makeup and function of the 

Humane Society. The County shall not attempt to control, direct, or oversee, in any way, the performance 

of the Humane Society or any assignee, agent or employee of the Humane Society outside the scope of 

this Agreement.  Impounded dogs under this Agreement remain the responsibility of the County until the 

Humane Society has accepted ownership of the dog.   

16.  Non-Assignment.   

Neither party may assign its duties and responsibilities under this Agreement. 

17.  Term of Agreement.   

The term of this Agreement shall commence on October 1, 2026 and conclude December 31, 2026.  Should 

the parties wish to contract for additional services, a new contract will be required.    

18.  Dispute Resolution Process  

If there is any question or dispute between the parties regarding the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement, or the application of those terms and conditions, the parties shall meet and use best efforts 

to reach agreement in order to accomplish the objectives of this Agreement. Failure to meet or 

meaningfully participate in discussions under this section shall itself be deemed a breach of this 

Agreement.  Should these efforts fail to result in agreement, the parties agree to non-binding mediation 

with a mutually agreeable mediator or, if no agreement on a mediator can be reached, through random 

selection from the 13th Circuit Court’s list of approved mediators.  Fees assessed by this mediator shall 

be shared equally. 

19.  Force Majeure  

Neither party will be liable for failure to perform any obligation owed under this Agreement if that failure 

is proximately caused by an “Act of God” (such as unforeseeable and not reasonably preventable fire, 

flood, or tornado), war, government mandate, pandemic, labor dispute, or similar circumstance. 

20.  Notice.   

When required under the terms of this Agreement, notice shall be deemed to have been made when 

delivered personally or by first class mail to the following: 

Notice to County:     Notice to the Humane Society: 
Leelanau County Sheriff’s Office    Cherryland Humane Society  
8525 E. Government Center Drive   Attn:  Executive Director 
Suttons Bay, Michigan 49682    1750 Ahlberg Road  
       Traverse City, Michigan 49696 
21.  Waiver and Amendment.   

Any modification to this Agreement and any waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be in 

writing and signed by both parties. 

28



22.  Compliance with Other Laws; Nondiscrimination.   

The parties agree to comply with all State of Michigan, Federal and local laws and regulations, including 

the Dog Law of 1919 and any county dog control ordinances. The parties, as required by law, shall not 

discriminate against a person to be served or an employee or applicant for employment with respect to 

hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to 

employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity 

or expression, genetic information, or disability that is unrelated to the individual’s ability to perform the 

duties of a particular job or position, height, weight, or marital status.  Breach of this section shall be 

regarded as a material breach of this Agreement.   

23.  Whole Agreement.   

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and shall be deemed to supersede 

and cancel any other agreement between the parties relating to the transactions contemplated in the 

Agreement. None of the previous and contemporaneous negotiations, preliminary drafts, or previous 

versions of this Agreement leading up to its execution and not set forth in this Agreement shall be used 

by any of the parties to construe or affect the validity of this Agreement. Each party acknowledges that 

no representation, inducement, or condition not set forth in this Agreement has been made or relied on 

by either party. 

24.  Severability.   

If this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement is held by a court to be invalid or unenforceable, it 

shall be ineffective only to the extent of the invalidity, without affecting or impairing the validity and 

enforceability of the remainder of the provisions or the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

25.  No Third-Party Beneficiaries and Grand Traverse Band Dogs.   

The parties do not intend to confer any benefits on any person, firm, or corporation other than the 

Humane Society and County.  Notwithstanding this statement, so long as the Society is party to a Boarding 

Agreement with the Grand Traverse Band of Ottawa and Chippewa Indians, the Society will receive stray, 

abandoned, Court Order held, or relinquished dogs from lands owned or controlled by the Grand Traverse 

Band of Ottawa and Chippewa Indians pursuant to the Grand Traverse Band Boarding Agreement 

conditions and the County Agreement for Dog Control Services with the Grand Traverse Band.  The Society 

understands and respects that Indian land is sovereign and is not considered a part of Leelanau County.  

Communication related to dogs received by the Society from the Grand Traverse Band will be directed to 

Grand Traverse Band personnel. 

26.  Governing Law and Venue.   

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Michigan and venue shall be in Grand 

Traverse County, exclusively. 

27.   Effective Date.   

The effective date is October 1, 2026.  For any dog that is brought to the shelter or continues to board at 

the shelter on or after the effective date of this agreement, and there is a conflict between the agreement 

that terminated on September 30, 2026 and this agreement, the terms of this agreement shall apply. 

29



28.  Signatories.  

By signing below, the Signatories warrant that they have authority to enter into this Agreement on behalf 

of their respective parties.  

LEELANAU COUNTY 

   

________________________________  _______________ 

By: Ty Wessell     Date    

Its: Board of Commissioners Chairman 

 

________________________________    ________________ 

By: Michael Borkovich    Date 

Its: Leelanau County Sheriff 

 

CHERRYLAND HUMANE SOCIETY 

 

________________________________  _______________ 

By: Heidi Yates     Date 

Its: Executive Director 

 

CHERRYLAND HUMANE SOCIETY 

 

________________________________  _______________ 

By:  Bruce Vargo    Date 

Its: President 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM FOR COUNTY OF LEELANAU:  

COHL, STOKER & TOSKEY, P.C. 

By: Jennifer L. Bliss       

On: April 18, 2024 

N:\Client\Leelanau\Agreements\Cherryland Humane Society\CHS Draft 10-1-26 through 12-31-26 jlb v1.docx 

30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



Split: Circuit Court 101.325.131.775.000
          District Court: 101.350.136.775.000 
Requires budget amendment with funds 

       coming from General Fund

40



41



MINUTES FROM MAY 1, 2024 COURT SECURITY MEETING 

 

Present: Mike Borkovich, Matt Ansorge, Ty Wessell, Michelle Crocker,  
Jerry Culman, Trina Girardin, Dan Short, Cameron Clark, Richard Lewis and Marian 
Kromkowski 
 

1. Annual CPR/Run/Hide/Flight/AED TRAINING: Matt Ansorge will choose two days 

in the fall to conduct a training for all staff and elected officials for a 

CPR/Run/Hide/Flight/AED refresher. This training will be mandatory for staff. If 

scheduled soon, staff can put it on their calendars and choose one of the dates.  It was 

suggested that a live fire extinguisher demonstration be held in the parking to insure all 

know how to use if needed.  CPR certification training was also discussed and will be 

explored depending on the level of interest from staff.  Details will be left to the 

discretion of the Emergency Management team to add topics and develop the training. 

Matt to get date to Judge Kromkowski within next 14 days.  

 

2. Courtroom Door Security Issue.  We received a quote for $9,857 for the installation of 

keys pads in the Circuit and District Court. Two in each courtroom.  Rich Lewis 

indicated this would be a county expense and an EDS should be brought before the BOC 

in May or June. GT Mobile Communications, Inc. is the company that installed other 

keypads in the building.  BOC will be asked to accept a bid waiver. Having these 

installed will improve the security of those in court and for staff whose offices are in the 

hallway behind the courtrooms.  All judges would have to determine if attorneys would 

be allowed to go out through that door and into the judge’s chamber. Probate Judge has 

had attorneys in her office, but only with judge permission.   Judge Kromkowski to 

draft EDS and send to Rich Lewis for review.  

 

3. Should we do a new employee survey?  After discussion, it was decided that another 

survey would not be necessary. Rather, a memo to be sent to all elected officials and 

department heads asking that they take the time to review security measures with all 

staff, including but not limited to a walkthrough of all floors of the building to identify 

location of all fire extinguishers, AEDs, narcan supplies, medical bags, Emergency Flip 

Charts and their own office safe rooms.  Staff also needs a refresher on how to use the 

911 button on all building phones.   Additional security measures were also discussed 

such as having a security person at the main entrance, checking everyone coming in, 

going through a metal detector, etc.  This could provide more security and staff could 

42



become accustomed to the new entry protocols. However, Trina reported that the cost for 

such in Grand Traverse County runs between $300,000 and $400,000.  Commissioner 

Wessell also expressed reservations as to how this security would impact the community, 

especially elders, and the “feel” of the building.  He also indicated that the BOC would 

probably be receptive to the less intrusive, less costly matters of security buttons and 

cameras.  Judge Kromkowski shall draft the memo, send to Rich Lewis for review 

and then it will be sent out.  

 

4. Security Buttons: Jerry will provide a list of the location of all current security 

buttons. Some have been turned off as they were being unnecessarily activated.  The 

security button system we have may be outdated.  Ideally, every office public counter 

would have one for easy access. However, before we look into costs and/or where all 

could be located we will seek BOC approval for such an evaluation.   

 

5. Cameras: Apparently, there are 80 cameras installed in the building. Problem is that the 

jail/dispatch staff does not have the wherewithal to monitor all the cameras. Some 

cameras may also not be working properly.  Zero Eyes was discussed. Installation in the 

parking lot would allow instantaneous detection of any suspicious movements by persons 

entering the building. It is programed to detect a motion typical of a person removing a 

rifle from their car and the like.  Similar to the security button issue, before we look into 

costs and/or location of Zero Eyes, we will seek BOC approval for such an evaluation.   

 

6. Next meeting: We will meet after the presentations to the BOC on the courtroom key 

cards, security buttons and cameras.  That should occur no later than June. Judge K. will 

select a date in June to get it onto everyone’s schedule. 

 

7. Next chair: Trina asked who would be the chair of the Court Security Committee after 

Judge K. retires at the end of this year. The Supreme Court Order indicates that the chair 

shall be the “chief judge of his/her designee.”  This will be discussed again later in the 

year.  

 

43



EXECUTIVE DOCUMENT SUMMARY 

Department: Leland Dam Authority 

Contact Person: Richard Lewis 

Telephone Number: ______ (2_ 3_ 1_) _2 _5_6-_ 9 _7_1 _1 

Submittal Dates 

Oselect Meeting Type: Executive Board 

Date of Meeting: _______ 0_5_/_1 4_/_2_02_4_ 

Financial/Source Selection Method 
t------------------------l vendor: Possible - Michigan Fluid Power 
Oselect one:_S_e_l _ec_t _O_n _e ________ _
[Z)other: Authority/Consultant Rec . Address/ 404 Central Pkwy

Phone: Hudsonville Ml 49426 0Account No.: 805.00 0.000.970.000 
( 616) 538-5700

OclP Project?

Oit Grant, Match Account No.: _________ _ Description: 

Budgeted Amount: __________ _ Contracted Amount: ____________ _ 

Document Description 

[ZJ Request to Waive Board Policy on Bid Requirements D Financial Review Completed D Department Head/Elected Official Authorization 

Machin Engineering was retained to develop a Request for Proposals regarding the repair/modifications to 
the hydraulic power system at the Leland Dam. At the April 17, 2024 Leland Dam Authority meeting, Patrick 
Machin provided a draft report and recommendation regarding his findings. Attached for your review is the 
final report dated April 25, 2024 from Machin Engineering which includes probable construction cost. The 
cost includes startup, staff training, and guides for hydraulic dam operation. As a reminder, the Committee of 
the Whole reviewed this potential project in January and total project estimated was $20,000.00 with funds 
to come from the General Fund. 

The Authority voted to recommend to the Board of Commissioners that the recommendation utilize the 
services of Michigan Fluid Power (MFP) of Hudsonville, Michigan. MFP designed the original system and 
helped install parts of it. This plan utilizes existing parts and structure and reduces replacement and storage 
of spare parts as the same parts are in stock at MFP. A call to them provides parts and people within 24 
hours. A formal proposal has not been requested from MFT, however, the probable construction cost is an 
estimate of their services. The Board could proceed with the issuance of a RFP if so desired. 

Is is staffs recommendation to the Board to (1) waive the seeking of a Request for Proposal as in the best 
interest of the public due to knowledge, expertise, and availability of MFP to undertake the Leland Dam 
repairs/modifications, (2) direct Machin Engineering to request a formal proposal from MFP for review by 
Machin Engineering and County staff and (3) authorize the Board Chair to execute an agreement/contract 
with MFP, if said proposal is within the probable construction cost outlined. 

I 

Suggested Recommendation: 

Move to recommend that the County Board of Commissioners (1) waive the seeking a Request for Proposal 
as in the best interest of the public due to knowledge, expertise, and availability of MFP to undertake the 
Leland Dam repairs/modifications, (2) direct Machin Engineering to request a formal proposal from MFP for 
review by Machin Engineering and County staff and (3) authorize the Board Chair to execute an 
agreement/contract with MFP, if said proposal is within the probable construction cost outlined. 

E 

I 

I 
• 

L 

44



45



46



47



48



49



Department Approval: __________________________________________ Date: ____________________________  

EXECUTIVE DOCUMENT SUMMARY
Department:___________________________________

Contact Person: ________________________________

Telephone Number: _____________________________ 

Submittal Dates 

Select Meeting Type: _________________________

Date of Meeting: ______________________________

Financial/Source Selection Method
Vendor:______________________________________

Address/ 
Phone: 

 ____________________________________________ 

Select One:__________________________________

Other: _____________________________________

Account No.: __________________________________

CIP Project?

If Grant, Match Account No.: ________________________

Budgeted Amount: ____________________________  Contracted Amount: _______________________________ 

Document Description 

Request to Waive Board Policy on Bid Requirements Department Head/Elected Official Authorization 

Suggested Recommendation: 

Leelanau County Senior Services offers in-home services to seniors who are at least 60 years old, are residents of 
Leelanau County, and fall within certain income asset criteria. Currently, Leelanau County Senior Services contracts 
with Comfort Keepers, Janet Flowers, and Linda Lingaur to provide various services, such as respite, personal care, 
medication management, homemaking, foot care, transportation, and mobile medical devices.

Here are the details of the 3 contracts and my recommendation:

1. Comfort Keepers has provided comprehensive and compassionate care to seniors in Leelanau County since October 
2012. The contract continues through May 31, 2024. After reviewing the RFP responses, it is my recommendation to 
continue the partnership with Comfort Keepers for an additional 2.5 years, ending on December 31, 2026. The 
following services will be provided at the rates listed in the RFP:

Respite, personal care, and homemaking at a rate of $45.00 per unit + $3.00 fuel surcharge

Medication management and foot care services at a rate of $150.00 per unit + $3.00 fuel surcharge

Transportation at a rate of $45.00 per unit + $0.75 per mile

Mobile Medical Device at a rate of $60.00 per unit.

2. Linda Lingaur has provided foot care services to Leelanau County seniors since 2008. Her contract will continue 
through December 31, 2024. After reviewing the RFP responses, it is my recommendation to continue the partnership 
with Linda Lingaur for an additional two years, ending on December 31, 2026. Foot care services will be provided at 
the rate listed in the RFP, $35.00 per voucher.

3. Janet Flowers has been providing medication management to Leelanau County seniors since 2007. Her contract will 
continue through December 31, 2024. After reviewing the RFP responses, it is my recommendation to continue the 
partnership with Janet Flowers for an additional two years, ending on December 31, 2026. Medication management 
services will be provided at a rate of $37.50 per unit of service.  

 

50



Leelanau County  
In Home Senior Services 

LCAO-RFP-2024-001 
 
 

Bids Due:  Monday, May 1, 2024 @ 3:00 p.m. 
Bid Opening: Monday, May 1, 2024 @ 3:05 p.m. 
 
Opened by: Lauren Cypher 

Present: Lauren Cypher, Lena Vander Meulen, Alison Middleton                                                                                                                                                                               

Recorded by: Alison Middleton 
  

Bidder Amount Comments 

1 Linda Lou Hair & Nails $35.00/Voucher Foot Care Services 

2 Janet Flowers, R.N. − 
Flowers Help Services, LLC $37.50/Unit of Service Medication Management 

3 Comfort Keepers $45.00/Unit (hour) + 
$3.00 fuel surcharge 

Homemaking/Personal Care/ 
Respite Services 

  $150.00/Hour + 
$3.00 fuel surcharge Medication Management 

  $150.00/Hour + 
$3.00/Visit Foot Care Services 

  $45.00/Hour + $0.75/Mile 
$60.00/Month 

−Transportation to Appointment 
−Mobile Medical Device 

4 BrightStar Care $70.00/Hour 
 

Homemaking/Personal Care/ 
Respite Services 

  
$180.00/Visit 
(RN care up to 2 hrs, 
$90.00/hr. if over 2 hrs. 

Medication Setup 

  $120 - $180/Hour Foot Care Services 

51



4 BrightStar Care (continued) 

$70.00/Caregiver hour + 
mileage reimbursement at 
current federal 
reimbursement rate 

Transportation to Medical 
Appointments 

  $120.00/Hour Mobil Medical Alert System 

  $180.00/Hour Skilled Nursing Services 

 

52



53



54



55



Materials Management Planning
QUICK GUIDE 

Materials Management Plans (MMP) are required by amendments to Part 115, Solid Waste Management, 
of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451, as amended (Part 115), 
specifically Supbart 11, Materials Management Plans.  These changes focus on sustainable materials 
management approaches, such as recyling and composting, instead of primarily disposal.  MMPs, once 
approved, will replace exisitng solid waste management plans.  This document provides guidance to assist 
with the development of these new MMPs. 

CONTENTS 
Glossary of Terms .................................................................................................................................. 2 

Goals and Objectives of Materials Management Planning ............................................................ 3 

Materials Management Planning Overview ...................................................................................... 3 

Materials Management Plan Requirements ..................................................................................... 5 

Responsible Parties - Roles and Responsibilities ............................................................................ 8 

County Approval Agency.................................................................................................................... 12 

Designated Planning Agency ............................................................................................................ 13 

Materials Management Planning Committee ............................................................................... 14 

 Plan Development and Approval Process ..................................................................................... 17 

Materials Management Planning Grants ....................................................................................... 21 

Multicounty Materials Management Planning .............................................................................. 22 

What resources are available?......................................................................................................... 23 

Plan Initiation Process......................................................................................................................... 10

56



GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
Benchmark Recycling Standard (BRS):  a recycling curbside and drop-off access standard that each 
planning area must meet within the timelines identified in statute.  

County Board of Commissioners (BOC):  the elected governing body authorized to make policy decisions 
for the county, or the elected county executive, as appropriate. 

County Approval Agency (CAA):  the entity that assumes responsibility and is authorized to approve the 
MMP, by submitting a notice of intent for preparing the MMP.  The CAA may be a county board of 
commissioners, all the municipalities in a county acting jointly, or a regional planning agency.   

Designated Planning Agency (DPA):  the agency and a specific individual of the agency designated by the 
CAA that shall serve as the primary government resource in the planning area for the administering and 
developing the MMP.  “DPA” does not mean a regional planning agency, unless the CAA identifies the 
regional planning agency as the DPA. 

Disposal Area:  a facility that accepts solid waste for disposal, or handling prior to disposal, such as a 
landfill, incinerator, or solid waste processing and transfer facility.  

Diverted Waste:  waste generated by households, businesses, or government entities that can lawfully be 
disposed of at a municipal solid waste landfill or incinerator but is separated from other waste for better 
management.  Examples of diverted waste include batteries, pesticides, pharmaceuticals, light bulbs, 
sharps, mercury containing devices, hazardous materials, or liquid wastes.  

Managed Materials:  solid waste, diverted waste, or recyclable material. 

Materials Management Facility (MMF):  a disposal area, materials utilization facility, or waste diversion 
center. 

Materials Management Goal (MMG):  goals identified in an MMP that are measurable, objective, and 
specific to the planning area identified to divert recyclables and organics from disposal.  These goals 
include the municipal solid waste recycling rate goal, the benchmark recycling standards identified in Part 
115, and any additional material utilization and reduction activities identified by the MMP.  

Materials Management Planning Committee (MMPC):  a permanent body that is appointed by the CAA to 
direct the Designated Planning Agency in the preparation, coordination and ensures fulfillment of the 
MMP.  

Materials Utilization Facility (MUF):  a facility, such as a materials recovery facility, anaerobic digester, 
compost facility, or innovative technology facility that processes recyclable materials for conversion into 
raw materials, intermediate, or new products.  

Planning Area:  the geographic area included within a materials management plan. 

Regional Planning Agency:  the Governor appointed 14 separate regions within the State for planning 
purposes.  The Michigan Association of Regions map shows their geographical locations. 

Waste Diversion Center: a facility designated for the purpose of receiving or collecting diverted wastes. 

57



GOALS AND OBJECTIVES OF MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLANNING 

WHAT IS A MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLAN (MMP)? 
Each county is required by law, to have an MMP that assures 
adequate materials management capacity for all non-
hazardous solid waste generated in the county.  The plan will 
also assure that managed material is collected, processed, or 
disposed at facilities that are consistent with the county plan 
and comply with state laws and rules.  This can include 
organics, recyclables, solid waste, and other materials.  MMPs 
will also identify and regulate local criteria for siting of all 
materials management facilities, such as landfills, solid waste 
processing and transfer facilities, materials recovery facilities, 
composting facilities, and anaerobic digesters. 

HOW DO PLANS HELP A COUNTY? 

• Gives a county a tool in its authority over management of solid waste, recyclables, organics, and
other related activities within their county.

• Allows for mechanisms to fund and promote materials management methods like recycling and
composting.

• Illustrates the county's materials management infrastructure (existing and new).

• Defines county or regional needs, goals, and identifies possible areas of growth.

• Encourages collaboration through partnerships to manage materials that are generated.

• Funds the effort to inventory current materials management facilities and available capacity.

• Helps establish current generation of organics, recyclable materials, and solid waste.

• Identifies gaps and local needs for infrastructure and services.

 

The materials 
management plan is not 
the end-goal.  The goal is to 
create and implement a 
robust materials 
management system. 

Once developed, the MMP becomes a tool and the authority 
to implement the vision set by the planning area. 

58



 

MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLANNING OVERVIEW 
Materials management planning is a program designed to guide the management of counties’ materials, 
with an emphasis on increasing sustainable practices, such as recycling and composting, in addition to 
ensuring safe disposal options.  These materials can include food waste, yard clippings, recyclables, other 
source separated materials, and solid waste.  Part 115 establishes statewide recycling goals and 
standards, and the MMP will identify an implementation strategy to meet those goals.  MMPs will identify 
existing materials management facilities and the facilities needed to meet the plan goals, identify capacity 
required to manage its generated materials, and a siting process to develop new and required facilities.  

WHAT DO I NEED TO KNOW ABOUT PLANS? 
• MMPs will be required for each county, developed as a single or multicounty MMP.  

• MMPs will focus on comprehensive materials management, including recycling, composting, other 
diversion activities, and disposal. 

• MMPs will establish goals with measurable objectives to divert recyclables and organics from 
disposal, while also increasing recycling access and education. 

• EGLE will initiate the planning process in September 2023.  

• Counties will have 3 years to complete the planning process, including the MMP development and 
local approvals. 

• Maximum timeframes are established throughout the development and approval process.  

• Funding will be available annually for MMP development, implementation, and maintenance.  

• Additional funding will be available for counties that participate in multicounty planning. 

• MMPs replace existing solid waste management plans, once approved. 

• This shift to more sustainable materials management strategies aligns with Michigan's MI Healthy 
Climate Plan. 

WHO IS INVOLVED IN PLANNING ACTIVITIES?  
Materials management planning will require coordination and collaboration across county and local 
governments and the materials management industry.  Below are the main entities. 

• County Approval Agency (CAA).   

• Designated Planning Agency (DPA). 

• Materials Management Planning Committee (MMPC). 

 See the following for more details. 

  

59



MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLAN REQUIREMENTS 
An MMP shall include the following requirements: 

• Measurable, objective, and specific goals of the planning area, for solid waste diversion from
disposal areas, including, but not limited to, the municipal solid waste recycling rate, the
benchmark recycling standards, and the material utilization and reduction activities identified by
the MMP.

• An implementation strategy for the county to demonstrate progress toward or to meet the
materials management goals by the time of the 5-year MMP review.  The strategy will include:

o How progress will be made to reduce the amount of organic material being disposed
of, through food waste reduction, composting, and anaerobic digestion.

o How progress will be made to reduce recyclable materials being disposed of through
increased recycling, including expanding convenient access and recycling at single and
multifamily dwellings, businesses, and institutions.

• A description of the resources needed for meeting the materials management goals and how
the development of necessary materials utilization facilities and activities will be promoted.

o A description of how the benchmark recycling standards will be met.

o A timetable for implementation.
• All managed material generated in the planning area will be identified by type and tonnage, to

determine the planning area's managed material capacity needs and that all managed material
is included in the planning area's materials management goals.

• Require that a proposed materials management facility meets the requirements of Part 115 and
is consistent with the materials management goals.

• Identify and evaluate current and planned materials management infrastructure and systems
that contribute or will contribute to meeting the materials management goals.

• Include an inventory of the names and addresses of the following:

o Existing disposal areas.

o Materials utilization facilities.

o Waste diversion centers.

• Contain a facility inventory that shall, at a minimum, include the following information:

o A summary of deficiencies, if any, in meeting current materials management needs.

o The facility latitude and longitude.

o The estimated facility acreage.

o A description of the materials managed.

o The processes for handling materials at the facility.

o The total authorized capacity of the facility.

o Include acknowledgement by the facility for capacity purposes, if applicable.

60



• If the inventoried facilities do not provide sufficient capacity for managed materials, the MMP
shall identify specific strategies, including a schedule and approach to develop and fund
needed capacity.

• Ensure that the materials management facilities that are identified as necessary to be sited can
be developed.

• An enforceable mechanism to meet the goals of the MMP and implement the MMP.

• Calculate the municipal solid waste recycling rate for the planning area.

• Describe the materials management transportation infrastructure.

• Include current and projected population densities and identify population centers and centers
of managed material generation in the planning area, to demonstrate that the capacity required
for managed material is met.

• Describe the mechanisms by which municipalities in the planning area will ensure convenient
recycling access, such as one or more of the following:

o Assignment of the responsibility to the county or an authority.
o A franchise agreement.
o An intergovernmental agreement.
o Municipal service.
o Licensing under an ordinance.
o A public-private partnership.

• Specify a recommended minimum level of recycling service that incorporates the access
requirements of the benchmark recycling standards.

• Identify the DPA and the entity or entities responsible for each of the MMP’s responsibilities.

• With respect to education and outreach for residents and businesses in the planning area, do
both of the following:

o Provide a strategic plan that identifies roles, responsibilities, funding sources, and
methods for persons providing the education and outreach services.

o Describe the county or regional role in providing continuing recycling education.  The
recycling education shall include, but is not limited to, providing a recycling guide both in
hard copy at select public locations and electronically on a cell phone-friendly website.
The recycling guide shall do the following:

 Identify recycling locations.

 Identify recyclable materials.

 Explain how to prepare recyclable materials for collection.

 Describe other best practices.

The county or municipality within the planning area may, through an appropriate enforceable 
mechanism, require haulers operating in its jurisdiction to provide the recommended level or a 
different minimum level of recycling service. 

61



• Include a listed telephone number for additional information. Include a siting process and a
copy of any ordinance, law, rule, or regulation of a municipality, county, or governmental
authority within the planning area that applies to the siting process.

• Take into consideration the MMPs of counties adjacent to the planning area, as they relate to
the planning area's needs.

• Document all opportunities for participation and involvement of the public, all affected agencies,
parties, and the private sector, in the preparation of the MMP.

• An MMP may include management plans for debris from environmental damage, for debris from
disasters, or for other materials, such as construction or demolition waste, not otherwise
required to be covered by an MMP.

• If a solid waste landfill is proposed to be developed in the planning area within two (2) miles of a
municipality that is located adjacent to the planning area, or if a solid waste processing and
transfer facility or materials utilization facility is proposed to be developed in the planning area
within one (1) mile of such a municipality, both of the following apply:

o The CAA shall notify the legislative body of the adjacent municipality, of the proposed
development, in writing.  The notice shall include a copy of this subsection.

o The planning committee shall provide the adjacent municipality an opportunity to
comment on the proposed development.

• An MMP shall include a siting process with a set of minimum criteria.

o The siting process shall not include siting criteria that are more restrictive than state law,
if a materials utilization facility could not be developed anywhere in the planning area
under those criteria.

o A materials utilization facility need not be sited, if the CAA or DPA demonstrates to the
department that the planning area has available capacity sufficient to address the
managed materials identified by the MMP as being generated in the planning area.

62



RESPONSIBLE PARTIES - ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  

MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLAN (MMP) PARTIES AND GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES: 
• The County Board of Commissioners or elected county executive, municipalities within the county,

or the regional planning agency may assume responsibility for a planning area.  This responsible
entity becomes the CAA.

• The CAA will appoint a DPA to develop the MMP.
• The CAA will also appoint an MMPC to identify planning area priorities and direct the DPA for MMP

preparation.

COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS (BOC) DUTIES: 
• Receives the request from EGLE to prepare an MMP.

• May file the Notice of Intent (NOI) to prepare the MMP or decline to prepare the MMP.

• If the BOC declines preparation of the MMP, they shall advise the municipalities and the Regional
Planning Agency (RPA) of their decision.

• Receives MMP grant money from EGLE and distributes it to the CAA.

• Automatically responsible for Plan implementation, if EGLE prepares the MMP.

NOTE.  If the BOC declines to submit the NOI, the municipalities or RPA can request an extension to allow 
the parties an opportunity to determine who will file the NOI.  If an NOI is not filed, EGLE may 
prepare the MMP. 

COUNTY APPROVAL AGENCY DUTIES: 
• Serves as the primary responsible party.

• Responsible for MMP implementation.

• Consults with adjacent counties regarding interest in preparing a multicounty MMP.

• Appoints the DPA.

• Appoints an MMPC.

• Oversees the creation and implementation of the DPA’s work program.

• Utilizes the MMP Grant funds for MMP development and implementation.

• Approves the MMP prior to municipal approval.

• Approves MMP modifications, if needed.

• Certifies to the Department the progress toward meeting all components of its materials
management goals.

63



DESIGNATED PLANNING AGENCY DUTIES: 
• Serves as the primary government resource in the planning area for information about the MMP

and the MMP development process.

• Prepares the MMP work program.

• Prepares the MMP.

• Consults with all affiliated entities.

• Publishes required public notices.

• Obtains written approvals from the Planning Committee, CAA, and municipalities.

• Manages the public comment process.

• Drafts language for review and approval of the Planning Committee.

• Ensures approval process and submittals comply with Part 115.

MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLANNING COMMITTEE (PLANNING COMMITTEE/MMPC) 

DUTIES: 
• Directs the DPA in the preparation of the MMP.

• Reviews and approves the DPA work program.

• Identifies relevant local policies and priorities.

• Ensures coordination in the preparation of the MMP.

• Advises county (or counties if multi-county) and municipalities.

• Ensures that the DPA is fulfilling all the requirements and rules promulgated under this part, as to
both the content of the MMP and the public participation requirement.

• Notifies the applicable parties of any identified deficiencies.

• Approves the MMP prior to public comment.

• Provides the final level of approval of the MMP before it is presented for CAA approval.

EGLE PREPARED MMP 
• If EGLE is responsible for preparing the MMP for two or more counties, EGLE may include those

counties in the planning area of a single MMP and may exercise its powers and perform its duties
for those counties jointly.

• EGLE will develop an MMP using the standard format and having specific requirements, as required
by Section 11580 of Part 115.

• MMP Grant funds may be used by the department for MMP preparation.

• The BOC is automatically responsible for the EGLE prepared Plan implementation.

64



PLAN INITIATION PROCESS

OUTLINE OF STEPS: 

STEP 1:  EGLE Director Initiates the MMP Process (THE COUNTY HAS 180 DAYS TO FILE THE NOI). 

STEP 2:  CAA Responsibility Determined. 

STEP 3:  Multicounty Planning Consideration. 

STEP 4:  Develop Interlocal Agreement for a Multicounty MMP (if applicable). 

STEP 5:  Submit Notice of Intent (NOI) to EGLE and CAA Confirmed. 

DETAILS OF STEPS: 

STEP 1:  EGLE Director Initiates MMP process. 
EGLE will request each county BOC or County Executive, as appropriate, to submit an NOI to prepare 
an MMP.  The NOI shall be submitted within 180 days of this request.   

STEP 2:  CAA Responsibility Determined. 
Each county BOC will have the first opportunity to assume responsibility for the MMP and complete 
the  initial tasks required of the CAA.   If the BOC declines this responsibilities, then all municipalities 
in the county jointly or the RPA may elect to take the CAA responsibilities. If the municipalities and the 
RPA declines the CAA responsibilities, EGLE shall write the MMP on behalf of the County.   

NOTE: A formal decision by resolution or similar mechanism will be required to document either a 
confirmation or a rejection of each county or RPA, as appropriate, regarding the CAA entity decision. 

If the BOC declines to become the CAA, they will give up their authority for ALL responsibilities for the 
MMP and the entity that becomes the CAA will be granted those responsibilities in lieu of the BOC. 

Multicounty plans will follow the same procedure for approval of a single county plan.  Each county 
represented in multicounty plan will confirm its own CAA, then jointly designate a single DPA, and 
enter an interlocal agreement for preparation of the multicounty plan.   

STEP 3:  Multicounty Planning Consideration 
Before submitting the NOI, each CAA shall consult with each adjacent county regarding the option of 
preparing a multicounty MMP.  Documentation of these consultations is required to be submitted 
with each NOI.  Please see Section 11571(7) for additional information.   

STEP 4:  Develop Interlocal Agreement for a Multicounty MMP (if applicable). 
For those counties that intend to develop a multicounty MMP, an interlocal agreement must be 
developed between all counties preparing its MMP.  Documentation of an executed interlocal 
agreement is required to be submitted with each NOI, if applicable. 

65



STEP 5:  Submit Notice of Intent to EGLE and CAA Confirmed. 
Once the NOI is submitted the entity is then confirmed as the CAA.  Each CAA shall submit the 
following items as part of their NOI submittal: 

• NOI indicating which entity will become the CAA, accepting responsibility for the preparation
and responsibilities of the MMP development, implementation, and authorities.

• Documentation indicating the CAA consulted with each adjacent county regarding the option
of preparing a multicounty MMP.

• Documentation of the outcome of the above adjacent county consultation, including a copy of
any interlocal agreement identifying the process for creating a multicounty MMP.

NEXT STEPS:  For next steps, see the Plan Development and Approval section of this Guide. 

66



COUNTY APPROVAL AGENCY 
The CAA is the entity that assumes responsibility and authority over the MMP.  The CAA will be responsible 
for approving and implementing the MMP, determining whether to pursue multicounty planning with 
adjacent counties, and filing an NOI.  This section contains the steps and guidance for determining the 
CAA, as well as its roles and responsibilities. 

DETERMINATION OF THE CAA: 
• The BOC will receive the initial request from EGLE to

prepare an MMP.

• The BOC may accept or decline responsibilities to
prepare the MMP

• If the BOC files the NOI with a response of "accept,"
they are assuming responsibility of the MMP, and are
declaring themselves the CAA.

• If the BOC declines preparation of the MMP, they shall
advise the municipalities and the RPA of their decision.

• The municipalities, acting jointly, or the RPA, then have
the option to file the NOI and become the CAA.

• If the BOC declines, if needed, the municipalities or the
RPA can request an extension of the deadline to file
the NOI to make their determination.  If no NOI is filed
or all entities decline, EGLE will prepare the MMP, and
it will be final.

NOTE.  Before filing the NOI, the entity who chooses to do so 
must also complete various pre-planning activities, 
including consulting with adjacent counties to gauge 
interest in a multicounty MMP and completing an interlocal 
agreement if pursuing a multicounty MMP. 

Once the CAA files the NOI and all supporting documentation, it is recommended that the CAA immediately 
start the next steps in the MMP development process because the filing of the NOI triggers a 180-day time 
limit to complete all the following tasks: 

• Appoint the DPA.

• Appoint the MMPC.

• The DPA Prepares the Work Program.

• The MMPC Approves the Work Program.

• EGLE Approves the Work Program.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CAA: 
 Primarily responsible for all aspects of

the MMP.
 Responsible for MMP implementation.
 Consults with adjacent counties

regarding preparing a multicounty
MMP prior to filing the NOI.

 Appoints the DPA.
 Appoints a Materials Management

Planning Committee.
 Oversees the creation and

implementation of the DPA’s work
program.

 Utilizes the MMP Grant funds for MMP
development and implementation -
this will be distributed initially to the
BOC or County Executive, and then
must be sent to the CAA.

 Approves the MMP prior to municipal
approval.

 Approves MMP modifications, if
needed.

 Certifies to EGLE the progress toward
meeting all components of its materials
management goals.

67



DESIGNATED PLANNING AGENCY (DPA) 
The DPA is the agency, and an individual within that agency, identified as the primary contact person for 
administering and preparing the MMP.  [Section 11574].  

DPA RESPONSIBILITIES: 
• Serves as the primary government resource in the planning area for information about the MMP

and leads the MMP development process.

• Under the direction of the MMPC, prepares the MMP using the EGLE provided format, solicits public
comment, and obtains MMP approval.

• During the preparation of the MMP, solicits the advice of and consults with the following
organizations:

o Municipalities, various organizations related to materials management, and the private
sector, such as materials management facility operators, in the planning area.

o The county or regional planning agency.
o Counties and municipalities in counties that are adjacent to the planning area.

Public Notice and Comments: 
At least 10 days before each public meeting where the DPA will discuss the MMP, a notice of the meeting 
must be given to the elected official of each municipality within the planning area, to adjacent 
communities, and to anyone else within the planning area that requests notice of these meetings.  The 
notice shall indicate as precisely as possible the subject matter being discussed. 

Once the MMP is drafted and approved by the MMP Committee, the DPA is required to: 

• Share the MMP draft for public review and comment for a minimum of 60 days.

• Conduct a public hearing on the MMP during the public comment period.  A public notice of the
hearing must be published at least 30 days prior to the hearing.

• Publish the notice in a newspaper, or by electronic media, with major circulation or viewership in
the planning area.  The notice must state where to find the draft MMP, the end date of the public
comment period, and solicit public comment.  Online notices must remain posted until the end of
the public comment period.  This notice may also serve as the public hearing notice.

• Provide a copy of the MMP along with a notice of the end of the public comment period to:
o EGLE.
o Each municipality within the planning area.
o Counties and municipalities adjacent to the planning area that may be significantly affected

by the MMP or that have requested the opportunity to review the MMP.
o The regional planning agency for each county in the planning area.

• Submit a summary of comments received during the public comment period to the MMPC.

• Revise the MMP based on public comment, as directed by the MMPC.  The DPA has 30 days from
the end of the public comment period to resubmit the MMP to the planning committee, if applicable.

• The DPA must ensure that the MMP approval process has been followed.  See the Materials
Management Planning Committee section of this document more details.

68



MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLANNING COMMITTEE 
The MMPC/Planning Committee is a permanent body that is appointed to direct the DPA  in the 

preparation of the MMP.  [Section 11572 and 11573]  

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MMPC 
• Directs the DPA in the preparation of the MMP.

• Reviews and approves the DPA work program.

• Identifies relevant local policies and priorities.

• Ensures coordination in the preparation of the MMP.

• Advises counties and municipalities regarding the MMP.

• Ensures the DPA is fulfilling the requirements of Part 115, including the MMP’s content and public
participation.

• Notifies the DPA and applicable parties of any deficiencies in the MMP or the process.

• Approves the MMP prior to public comment.

• Provides the final level of MMP approval before it is presented for CAA approval.

COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 
• Initial members are appointed for a 5-year term.

• After initial 5-year term there should be a period of staggered appointments (2, 3, 4, and 5-year
terms; the following example of Staggered Appointments).

• After staggered positions are established, their successors should be appointed for 5-year terms.

• Members can be reappointed.

• Vacancies should be filled for the unexpired term in the same manner as the original appointment.

• Members can be removed by CAA due to incompetence, dereliction of duty, or malfeasance,
misfeasance, or nonfeasance in office.

69



Exampled of Staggered Appointments 

VOTING 
• A majority of members present at a meeting constitutes a quorum for the transaction of business.

• An affirmative vote from the majority of the members appointed is required for official action to be
taken.

• The approval of a County and/or Regional MMP requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the full
planning committee.  For example, if:

o There are 13 total member positions (12 active members and 1 vacant position).

o When a vote is taken, a minimum of 7 affirmative votes are required for that action to pass.

o Votes needed are based on the total number of available positions, not how many are
currently filled and/or present at the meeting.

5-Year
Appointment 5-Year

Appointment 5-Year
Appointment 5-Year

Appointment 

NOI filed 

Ye
ar

s 

5-Year Initial 
Appointment

5-Year Initial
Appointment

3-

5-

Year Staggered
Appointment

Year Initial
Appointment

2-

5-

Year Staggered 
Appointment

Year Initial 
Appointment

4-Year Staggered 
Appointment

5-Year Staggered 
Appointment

70



PLANNING COMMITTEE MEMBER REQUIREMENTS 

All members must either provide services to or reside within the planning area and be defensible if 
challenged. 

Member Requirements 

• A solid waste disposal facility operator.

• A representative of a hauler of managed material.

• A materials recovery facility operator.

• A composting facility or anaerobic digestor operator.

• A waste diversion, reuse, or reduction facility operator.

• A representative of an environmental interest group that has members residing in the planning
area.

• An elected official of the county.

• An elected official of a township.

• An elected official of a city or village.

• A representative of a business that generates a managed material.

• A representative of the regional planning agency whose territory includes the planning area.

Optional Members/Scenarios 

• The CAA may appoint one additional representative that does business in or resides in an adjacent
community outside the planning area.

• If during the MMP development or amendment process, a solid waste landfill is proposed in the
planning area within 2 miles of a municipality that is located adjacent to the planning area, or if a
solid waste processing and transfer facility or materials utilization facility is proposed in the
planning area within 1 mile of such a municipality, the CAA shall notify the adjacent municipality in
writing.  This municipality may provide comment on the proposed development.

Optional Multicounty Planning Members 

In addition to the above committee members, each county in a multicounty plan may appoint the following 
additional members: 

• An elected official of the county or a municipality.

• A representative from a business that generates managed materials.

Minimum Planning Committee Members 

If the CCA has difficulty finding qualified individuals to serve on the planning committee, EGLE may 
approve a reduction in the number of members.  Contact EGLE for more details. 

71



 PLAN DEVELOPMENT AND APPROVAL PROCESS 
This section details the steps to develop and approve the MMP and grant eligibility, after the 

EGLE Director initiates the MMP development process (Part 115, Sections 11571–11576, 11580, 
11587).    

STEP 1. NOI is filed and the responsible entity becomes the CAA within 180 days of EGLE’s request.  If 
an NOI was not filed by the BOC, the municipalities or RPA can request an extension from EGLE 
to allow the parties an opportunity to determine who will file the NOI with an EGLE approved 
extension. 

• If an NOI was filed, continue to Step 2.

• If an extension was requested by the municipalities or RPA from EGLE and approved by
EGLE, continue to Step 2.

• If an extension was not requested or an NOI was not filed, EGLE shall prepare the MMP.  The
EGLE prepared MMP is final, and the process ends.

The CAA has a total of 36 months from the date an NOI is filed to complete its portions of the 
process. 

STEP 2. After the NOI is submitted, the following must be completed: 

• The CAA establishes the DPA. The CAA will have the option to identify a DPA while filing its
NOI.  This is highly recommended to give the DPA ample time to complete the remaining
tasks.  However, the CAA has up to 120 days to officially appoint their DPA.

• Within 180 days: The CAA appoints the MMPC; the DPA will draft the Work Program; the
MMPC approves Work Program and submits the Work Program to EGLE; EGLE approves the
Work Program.  All tasks must be completed within this 180-day given timeframe.

The CAA is grant eligible once an NOI is filed, a DPA and MMPC have been appointed, and a Work Program 
has been approved by the MMPC and EGLE.  It is recommended to begin MMP drafting and development 
while waiting for MMP grant distribution, to ensure the 36-month total timeframe is met. 

STEP 3. The MMP is drafted. 

STEP 4. The MMPC approves the draft MMP. 

STEP 5. The MMP goes to public comment for a minimum of 60 days.  During this time, a public hearing 
is conducted by the DPA. 

• The public hearing notice shall be published at least 30 days prior to the public hearing
date.  Documentation must be provided to EGLE.

STEP 6. Once the public comment period and hearing are completed, the DPA has 30 days to revise the 
draft MMP based on comments received and send the draft MMP back to the MMPC for 
approval, if applicable.  

72



STEP 7. The MMPC approves the MMP by majority vote within 30 days after the DPA has sent the 
revised draft MMP back for final approval. 

STEP 8. The CAA must approve or reject the MMP within 60 days after the MMPC has approved the 
MMP. 

• If the CAA approves the MMP, continue to Step 9. 

• If the CAA does not approve the MMP within 30 days, the CAA sends the MMP back to the 
MMPC with objections.  

o The MMPC then responds to the CAA within 30 days. 

o The CAA acts on the MMP. 

 If the CAA approves the MMP, continue to Step 9. 

 If the CAA does not approve the MMP, the CAA prepares its own MMP, then continues 
to Step 10. 

STEP 9. Within 10 business days of CAA approval, the DPA sends the MMP to all municipalities in the 
County. 

STEP 10. Municipalities are given 120 days to approve or reject the MMP.  

• Only those municipalities that voted within the 120 days will count toward approval or 
rejection of the MMP.  All municipalities that have not responded within the 120-day 
timeframe will NOT count toward the 67 percent. 

• If 67 percent of the municipalities that acted on the MMP within 120 days approve of the 
plan, continue to Step 11.  

• NOTE: 67 percent of the municipalities that respond to the vote must approve the MMP.  

• If 67 percent of municipalities that voted within 120 days do not approve the MMP, then 
EGLE will prepare the MMP, it will be final, and the process ends.  

• NOTE:  ALL tasks to this point must be completed within 36 months. 

STEP 11. 30 days after the municipalities review and approve the MMP, the DPA shall submit the MMP to 
EGLE for final review, continue to Step 12. 

After the MMP is submitted by the DPA, EGLE has 180 days to review.  The review can be 
extended by another 90 days if modifications are needed to bring the MMP into compliance with 
Part 115. 

STEP 12. If EGLE approves the MMP, the MMP is final, and the process is complete.  If EGLE does not 
approve the MMP, EGLE may prepare or modify the MMP, and the process continues to 
Step 13. 

STEP 13. EGLE submits the MMP to the CAA.  If the CAA approves the EGLE modifications of the MMP, the 
MMP is final, and the process is complete.  If the CAA does not approve the EGLE modifications 
to the MMP, EGLE prepares the final MMP, and the process is complete. 

73



MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLAN APPROVAL PROCESS 

74



NOTES 
• All meetings shall be open to the public and require at least 10-day notice be given to the chief

elected official of each municipality within the planning area and any other person requesting
notice.

• All approval steps must be completed within the given timeframe.  If the MMP is neither
approved nor rejected by the established deadline, the MMP is considered automatically
approved at that step in the approval process, and the approval process shall continue at the
next step.

• The CAA has a total of 36 months to complete all its portions of the process.

EGLE PREPARED MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLAN REQUIREMENTS 
• Materials utilization facilities or solid waste processing and transfer facilities are automatically

found to be consistent with the MMP if they: (1) are exempt from permit and license
requirements; (2) comply with local zoning requirements; and (3) that are identified in the MMP.

• The MMP cannot approve any non-contiguous additional solid waste landfill disposal capacity
unless the BOC has shown a demonstrated need (Section 11509(9)).

• The MMP shall require all haulers servicing the planning area, per Part 115, to provide recycling
access per the Benchmark Recycling Standard.

Further, an EGLE prepared MMP will not contain a requirement for additional siting criteria or the criterion 
that the Host Community provides an approval for the development of any facility. 

75



MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLANNING GRANTS 

WHO IS ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE FUNDING? 

Each county that applies and meets the eligibility requirements will receive funding.  Funds will be granted 
to the BOC once the grant application and agreement are approved.  If the BOC is not identified as the 
CAA, then it is the responsibility of the BOC to distribute the funds to the appropriate CAA within 60 days 
after receipt of the funds.  If EGLE is preparing the MMP for the County, the funds may be utilized by EGLE. 

HOW CAN FUNDING BE USED? 
Funds can be used for preparing, implementing, and maintaining an MMP.  Including: 
• Development of a work program as described in Section 11587 of Part 115.
• Developing and amending an MMP.
• Ensuring public participation.
• Resources used to determine whether new facilities are consistent with the MMP.
• Collecting, submitting, and evaluating data for the database for facility reporting purposes.
• Recycling education and outreach.
• Establishing and continuing recycling and materials utilization programs consistent with the goals.
• Preparation of required reports to EGLE.
• Efforts to obtain support for the MMP and planning process.
• Other efforts related to MMP implementation.

Funds can be used for implementation, however, the MMP development costs take precedence, and an 
Implementation Work Program has been approved as part of the MMP Grant Agreement. 

WHEN IS FUNDING AVAILABLE? 
These grants will be awarded annually.  To receive 
funds in the first 3 years, the CAA must have: 
• Appointed the DPA.
• Appointed the MMPC.
• A Work Program Prepared by the DPA.
• A Work Program Approved by the MMPC.
• A Work Program approved by EGLE.

The Work Program must contain activities for 
developing and implementing the MMP and must 
show associated costs to be covered by the 
County and the grant.  Grantees must keep 
records documenting use of grant monies.  

HOW MUCH FUNDING IS AVAILABLE? 
Grants will be calculated using the following: 

• $60,000 for each county in the planning
area.

• $10,000 additional for each county in a
multicounty planning area.

• For the first 3 years, an additional 50 cents
per capita of each county*, up to $300,000.

*Based on the 2020 Census Data

HOW LONG IS FUNDING AVAILABLE? 
Funding is established by the Income Tax Act Of 1967 Act 281 Of 1967, specifically Section 206.51g, 
Renew Michigan Fund, and is subject to appropriation.  

Per capita money will not be available for 
future MMP development. 

76



MULTICOUNTY MATERIALS MANAGEMENT PLANNING 
In many cases, MMPs for a multicounty area may be more effective and efficient than plans developed for 
single counties.  Multicounty MMPs may improve operations, costs, environmental outcomes, education 
and outreach efforts, and market development.  Each county is required to consult with adjacent counties 
to consider multicounty planning and additional grant funds are available for counties participating in a 
multicounty MMP. 

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A MULTICOUNTY MMP 
• An MMP may include two or more counties if each of those counties agree to the joint exercise

of powers and performance of the duties under Subpart 11 for the BOC and of the CAAs.

• Multicounty MMPs are subject to the same procedure for approval as single-county MMPs. A
multicounty MMP shall include a process to ensure that the MMP requirements are met.

• CAAs preparing a multicounty MMP, shall appoint a single planning committee.  For each
county, additional planning committee members may be appointed:

o An elected official of the county or a municipality in the planning area.
o A representative from a business that generates managed materials within the planning

area.

MULTICOUNTY COLLABORATION 
Counties will be required to document that they contacted, at a minimum, their adjacent counties, 
regarding the option and interest in preparing a multicounty MMP.  Documentation memorializing the 
outcome and any interlocal agreements identifying the process for creating a multicounty MMP will be 
submitted to EGLE with each county’s NOI. 

NOTE: Counties consulted may reside outside the state-designed planning region. 

THE BENEFITS OF MULTICOUNTY PLANNING 
There are several benefits of creating and implementing a multicounty MMP, including additional grant 
funding.  Each eligible county will receive $60,000 plus, for the first three years, $0.50 per capita, not to 
exceed $300,000.  Counties collaborating in a multicounty plan will each receive an additional $10,000 
per year.  In addition, collaborating counties can: 

• Improve efficiencies, reduces costs and allows for shared implementation costs.
• Streamline access to regional facilities and haulers.
• Identify solutions with counties facing similar challenges and opportunities.
• Use a standardized educational campaign for the planning area.
• Reduce contamination and increase marketability and value of materials.
• Reduce the need to have or create program expertise in each county.
• Increase service options for the region, making it easier to meet capacity and access requirements.
• Provide a larger pool of potential MMPC representatives.

77



WHAT RESOURCES ARE AVAILABLE? 
• MMP Toolbox

• Email: EGLE Planning Staff

• Materials Management Planning Program Staff Map

• Recycling Program Staff Map

• Regional Planning Agencies

• County DPA Contacts

• Materials Management Facilities ArcGIS Map

• Funding Opportunities (see Planning Website)

• Mega Data Collection Project

Visit Michigan.gov/EGLEMMP or contact EGLE-MMP@Michigan.gov for more information. 

This publication is intended for guidance only and may be impacted by changes in legislation, rules, policies, 
and procedures adopted after the date of publication.  Although this publication makes every effort to teach 
users how to meet applicable compliance obligations, use of this publication does not constitute the rendering 
of legal advice. 

EGLE does not discriminate on the basis of race, sex, religion, age, national origin, color, marital status, 
disability, political beliefs, height, weight, genetic information, or sexual orientation in the administration of any 
of its programs or activities, and prohibits intimidation and retaliation, as required by applicable laws and 
regulations. 

To request this material in an alternate format, contact EGLE-Accessibility@Michigan.gov or 800-662-9278. 

78



May 8, 2024 
 

Attorney-Client Privilege 

 

Sent Via E-Mail 

 
Nathan Alger, Administrator 
Grand Traverse County 
400 Boardman Avenue 
Traverse City MI 49684 
 

Richard Lewis, Interim Administrator 
Leelanau County  
8527 E. Government Center Dr.  
Suite 101 
Suttons Bay, MI 45682 

Katelyn Zeits, Administrator 
Benzie County 
448 Court Place 
Beulah, MI 49617 

 
Re: Waiver of Conflict and Consent to Representation Regarding Multicounty Materials 

Management Planning Interlocal Agreement for the Counties of Grand Traverse, Leelanau, 
and Benzie. 

 
Dear Mr. Alger, Mr. Lewis, and Ms. Zeits: 
 

Grand Traverse County (Grand Traverse) has asked us to prepare an Interlocal Agreement for 
Multicounty Materials Management Planning (Agreement) with Grand Traverse, Leelanau County 
(Leelanau), and Benzie County (Benzie) as all three Counties have expressed a desire to establish a 
Multicounty Materials Management Plan. Pursuant to MCL 324.115 et seq, each County must enter into 
an interlocal agreement in order to develop a Multicounty Materials Management Plan.  

 
In the role of drafting, reviewing and revising the Agreement and counseling the Counties 

regarding the Agreement, our representation implicates the rules governing attorneys and potential 
conflicts of interest. Specifically, the Michigan ethics rule governing attorneys provides: 
 

Rule 1.7 Conflict of Interest: General Rule. 
 

(a)  A lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation of that client will be directly 
adverse to another client, unless: 

 
(1)  the lawyer reasonably believes the representation will not adversely affect the 

relationship with the other client; and  
 

(2)  each client consents after consultation.  
 

79



(b)  A lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation of that client may be materially 
limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client or to a third person, or by the 
lawyer's own interests, unless: 
 
(1) the lawyer reasonably believes the representation will not be adversely affected; 

and  
 

(2)  the client consents after consultation. When representation of multiple clients in a 
single matter is undertaken, the consultation shall include explanation of the 
implications of the common representation and the advantages and risks involved. 

 
We do not reasonably believe that our representation of the Counties in this matter will adversely 

affect Grand Traverse, Leelanau or Benzie. The risks are, of course, that Grand Traverse, Leelanau, and 
Benzie may ultimately disagree over our draft Agreement.  However, at this point we have no information 
from which we can reasonably conclude that such a disagreement will occur or that our representation of 
the Counties would be adversely affected. 
 

In addition, it does not appear that any confidential information or documents which we received 
in our representation of Grand Traverse, Leelanau and Benzie would be material to this transaction. 
Further, we will not use or reveal any information relating to our representation of either Grand Traverse, 
Leelanau, or Benzie except to the extent that such information is generally known. 
 

However, although there does not appear to us to be an actual conflict under Rule 1.7 of the Rules 
of Professional Conduct, because Grand Traverse, Leelanau and Benzie are valued clients of this Firm, 
we request under the Rules of Professional Conduct that Grand Traverse, Leelanau and Benzie knowingly 
and voluntarily waive any potential conflict, and that you be informed and consider the implications, 
advantages and risks of doing so.  
 

If after full review and consultation you decide to waive the conflict or any potential conflict and 
allow us to represent Grand Traverse, Leelanau and Benzie in this matter, please sign your copy of this 
letter and return it to us.  If you have any questions or require further information, please contact us. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

COHL, STOKER & TOSKEY, P.C. 
 

/s/ Sarah K. Osburn 
 

 
SKO/gmk 
cc: Lauren Cypher, Administrative Assistant, Leelanau County  

Lisa Emery, Administrative Assistant, Grand Traverse County  
  

80



 
After full review and consultation, the undersigned clients of Cohl, Stoker & Toskey, P.C., waive 

any potential conflict and consent to Cohl, Stoker & Toskey, P.C. in preparing the Interlocal Materials 
Management Planning Agreement for the Counties of Grand Traverse, Leelanau, and Benzie. 
 
 

GRAND TRAVERSE COUNTY 

 
 
Signed:___________________________ 

Nathan Alger 
 
Its: Administrator 
 
 
Date: ____________________________ 
 
 
COUNTY OF LEELANAU  

 
 
Signed: ___________________________ 
  Richard Lewis 
 
Its: Interim Administrator 
 
 
Date: _____________________________ 
 
 

COUNTY OF BENZIE  

 
 
Signed: ___________________________ 
  Katelyn Zeits 
 
Its: Administrator 
 
 
Date: _____________________________ 
  

 
 

81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



EXECUTIVE DOCUMENT SUMMARY 
Department: ___________________________________ 

Contact Person: ________________________________ 

Telephone Number: _____________________________ 

Submittal Dates 

 Select Meeting Type: _________________________

Date of Meeting: ______________________________

Financial/Source Selection Method 
Vendor: ______________________________________ 

Address/ 
Phone: 

 ____________________________________________ 

 Select One: __________________________________

 Other: _____________________________________

 Account No.: __________________________________

 CIP Project?

 If Grant, Match Account No.: ________________________

Budgeted Amount: ____________________________  Contracted Amount: _______________________________ 

Document Description 

 Request to Waive Board Policy on Bid Requirements  Department Head/Elected Official Authorization

Suggested Recommendation: 

175



O
R

IG
IN

A
L

 T
O

: C
ou

n
ty

 C
le

rk
(s

) 
M

ic
h

ig
an

 D
ep

ar
tm

e
n

t o
f T

re
a

su
ry

61
4

 (
R

e
v.

 0
2-

24
) 

C
O

P
Y

 T
O

: E
q

ua
liz

a
tio

n
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t(
s)

 
L

-4
02

9
 

C
O

P
Y

 T
O

: E
a

ch
 to

w
ns

h
ip

 o
r 

ci
ty

 c
le

rk
 

2
0

2
4

 T
a

x
 R

a
te

 R
e

q
u

e
s

t 
(T

h
is

 f
o

rm
 m

u
st

 b
e

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 a

n
d

 s
u

b
m

it
te

d
 o

n
 o

r 
b

ef
o

re
 S

ep
te

m
b

er
 3

0
, 2

0
24

) 
C

ar
e

fu
lly

 r
e

ad
 t

h
e 

in
st

ru
ct

io
n

s 
o

n
 p

ag
e 

2
. 

M
IL

L
A

G
E

 R
E

Q
U

E
S

T
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 T

O
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
 B

O
A

R
D

 O
F

 C
O

M
M

IS
S

IO
N

E
R

S
 

T
hi

s 
fo

rm
 is

 is
su

e
d

 u
n

d
er

 a
u

th
o

ri
ty

 o
f M

C
L

 S
e

ct
io

ns
 2

11
.2

4
e,

 2
11

.3
4

 a
n

d
 2

11
.3

4
d

. F
ili

n
g

 is
 m

a
n

d
at

o
ry

; P
e

na
lty

 a
p

p
lie

s.
 

C
ou

nt
y(

ie
s)

 W
h

er
e 

th
e 

L
oc

a
l G

ov
er

n
m

e
n

t U
n

it 
L

e
vi

e
s 

T
a

xe
s 

20
24

 T
a

xa
bl

e
 V

a
lu

e
 o

f 
A

LL
 P

ro
p

e
rt

ie
s 

in
 th

e
 U

n
it 

as
 o

f 5
-2

8
-2

0
24

 

Lo
ca

l G
ov

er
n

m
e

nt
 U

n
it 

R
e

qu
e

st
in

g 
M

ill
ag

e 
L

ev
y 

F
or

 L
O

C
A

L 
S

ch
o

o
l D

is
tr

ic
ts

: 2
0

24
 T

a
xa

b
le

 V
a

lu
e

 e
xc

lu
d

in
g

 P
ri

nc
ip

al
 R

es
id

e
nc

e
, Q

ua
lif

ie
d 

A
gr

ic
u

tlu
ra

l, 
Q

ua
lif

ie
d

 F
o

re
st

, 
In

d
u

st
ri

a
l 

P
e

rs
o

n
al

 a
n

d
 C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l P
e

rs
o

n
al

 P
ro

pe
rt

ie
s.

 

T
h

is
 f

o
rm

 m
u

st
 b

e 
c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 f
o

r 
ea

ch
 u

n
it

 o
f 

g
o

ve
rn

m
en

t 
fo

r 
w

h
ic

h
 a

 p
ro

p
er

ty
 t

ax
 is

 l
ev

ie
d

. P
e

n
a

lt
y 

fo
r 

n
o

n
-f

ili
n

g
 is

 p
ro

vi
d

ed
 u

n
d

er
 M

C
L

 S
ec

 2
11

.1
19

. T
h

e
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 t

ax
 r

at
es

 h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 
au

th
o

ri
ze

d
 f

o
r 

le
vy

 o
n

 t
h

e 
2

02
4

 t
ax

 r
o

ll.
 

(1
) 

S
o

ur
ce

 

(2
) 

P
ur

po
se

 o
f 

M
ill

ag
e

 

(3
) 

D
at

e 
of

 
E

le
ct

io
n 

(4
) 

O
rig

in
a

l 
M

ill
ag

e
 

A
ut

ho
ri

ze
d

 b
y 

E
le

ct
io

n 
C

ha
rt

er
, e

tc
. 

(5
) 

**
 

20
23

 M
ill

a
ge

 R
at

e 
P

er
m

an
e

nt
ly

 
R

ed
u

ce
d

 b
y 

M
C

L 
21

1.
34

d 
"H

ea
d

le
e"

 

(6
) 

20
24

 C
ur

re
n

t 
Y

e
ar

 "
H

ea
dl

ee
" 

M
ill

ag
e

 R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 
F

ra
ct

io
n 

(7
) 

20
24

 M
ill

a
ge

 
R

at
e 

P
er

m
a

ne
nt

ly
 

R
ed

u
ce

d
 b

y 
M

C
L 

21
1.

34
d 

"H
ea

d
le

e"
 

(8
) 

S
ec

. 2
11

.3
4 

T
ru

th
 

in
 A

ss
es

si
ng

 o
r 

E
q

ua
liz

a
tio

n 
M

ill
ag

e
 R

ol
lb

a
ck

 
F

ra
ct

io
n 

(9
) 

M
a

xi
m

um
 

A
llo

w
ab

le
 

M
ill

ag
e

 L
e

vy
 *

 

(1
0

) 
M

ill
ag

e
 

R
eq

u
es

te
d 

to
 

be
 L

e
vi

e
d 

Ju
ly

 1
 

(1
1

) 
M

ill
ag

e
 

R
eq

u
es

te
d 

to
 b

e
 

Le
vi

e
d 

D
e

c.
 1

 

(1
2

) 
E

xp
ira

tio
n

 
D

at
e 

of
 

M
ill

ag
e

 
A

ut
ho

ri
ze

d
 

P
re

p
a

re
d

 b
y 

T
e

le
ph

o
n

e 
N

u
m

b
er

 
T

itl
e 

o
f P

re
p

ar
e

r 
D

at
e

 

C
E

R
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

:  A
s 

th
e

 r
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
es

 f
or

 th
e 

lo
ca

l g
o

ve
rn

m
e

nt
 u

n
it 

na
m

ed
 a

b
ov

e,
 w

e 
ce

rt
ify

 t
ha

t 
th

es
e

 r
eq

u
es

te
d

 ta
x 

le
vy

 r
a

te
s 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n
 

re
d

uc
ed

, 
if 

n
ec

e
ss

ar
y 

to
 c

o
m

pl
y 

w
ith

 th
e 

st
at

e
 c

on
st

itu
tio

n
 (

A
rt

ic
le

 9
, 

S
ec

tio
n

 3
1

),
 a

n
d 

th
at

 t
he

 r
eq

u
es

te
d 

le
vy

 r
at

e
s 

h
av

e
 a

ls
o 

b
ee

n
 r

ed
u

ce
d,

 if
 

ne
ce

ss
ar

y,
 to

 c
o

m
p

ly
 w

ith
 M

C
L 

S
e

ct
io

n
s 

2
11

.2
4

e
, 2

1
1.

34
 a

n
d,

 fo
r 

LO
C

A
L 

sc
ho

o
l d

is
tr

ic
ts

 w
h

ic
h 

le
vy

 a
 S

up
p

le
m

en
ta

l (
H

ol
d 

H
a

rm
le

ss
) 

M
ill

a
ge

, 
38

0.
12

11
(3

).
 

C
le

rk
 

S
ig

na
tu

re
 

P
ri

nt
 N

am
e

 
D

at
e

 

S
ec

re
ta

ry
 

C
ha

ir
pe

rs
on

 
S

ig
na

tu
re

 
P

ri
nt

 N
am

e
 

D
at

e
 

P
re

si
d

en
t 

* 
U

nd
e

r 
T

ru
th

 in
 T

ax
at

io
n

, M
C

L 
S

e
ct

io
n 

21
1

.2
4e

, 
th

e 
go

ve
rn

in
g 

bo
d

y 
m

a
y 

de
ci

de
 t

o 
le

vy
 a

 r
at

e
 w

hi
ch

 w
ill

 n
ot

 e
xc

ee
d 

th
e 

m
a

xi
m

um
 a

u
th

or
iz

ed
 r

at
e 

al
lo

w
e

d 
in

 c
o

lu
m

n 
9.

 T
he

 r
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 o

f 
M

C
L 

21
1

.2
4e

 m
us

t b
e

 m
e

t p
ri

or
 to

 le
vy

in
g

 a
n

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
le

vy
 w

h
ic

h
 is

 la
rg

er
 th

an
 t

he
 b

as
e 

ta
x 

ra
te

 b
u

t n
o

t 
la

rg
er

 t
ha

n
 th

e
 r

at
e 

in
 c

ol
um

n
 9

. 

L
o

ca
l S

ch
o

o
l 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
U

se
 O

n
ly

. C
o

m
p

le
te

 i
f 

re
q

u
es

ti
n

g
 

m
ill

a
g

e 
to

 b
e 

le
vi

ed
. 

S
e

e 
S

T
C

 B
u

lle
ti

n
 2

 o
f 

20
24

 f
o

r 
in

st
ru

c
ti

o
n

s
 o

n
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
n

g
 t

h
is

 s
ec

ti
o

n
. 

T
ot

a
l S

ch
o

ol
 D

is
tr

ic
t O

p
er

at
in

g
 

R
at

e
s 

to
 b

e 
Le

vi
e

d 
(H

H
/S

up
p 

a
nd

 N
H

 O
p

er
 O

N
LY

) 
R

at
e

 

F
o

r 
P

rin
ci

p
al

 R
e

si
de

n
ce

, 
Q

u
al

ifi
e

d 
A

g.
, Q

ua
lif

ie
d 

F
o

re
st

 a
n

d 
In

du
st

ria
l 

P
er

so
n

al
 

F
o

r 
C

o
m

m
er

ci
al

 P
er

so
na

l 

F
o

r 
a

ll 
O

th
er

 

**
 I

M
P

O
R

T
A

N
T

: 
S

ee
 in

st
ru

ct
io

ns
 o

n 
p

ag
e 

2 
re

ga
rd

in
g

 w
he

re
 to

 fi
n

d 
th

e 
m

ill
ag

e 
ra

te
 u

se
d 

in
 c

ol
um

n
 (

5
).

 

176



Instructions For Completing 
Form 614 (L-4029) 2024 Tax Rate Request, 

Millage Request Report To County Board Of Commissioners 

These instructions are provided under MCL Sections 211.24e 
(truth in taxation), 211.34 (truth in county equalization and 
truth in assessing), 211.34d (Headlee), and 211.36 and 
211.37 (apportionment). 

Column 1:  Source.  Enter the source of each millage. For 
example, allocated millage, separate millage limitations 
voted, charter, approved extra-voted millage, public act 
number, etc. Do not include taxes levied on the Industrial 
Facilities Tax Roll. 

Column 2: Purpose of millage. Examples are: operating, 
debt service, special assessments, school enhancement 
millage, sinking fund millage, etc. A local school district 
must separately list operating millages by whether they are 
levied against ALL PROPERTIES in the school district or 
against the NON-HOME group of properties. (See State 
Tax Commission Bulletin 2 of 2024 for more explanation.) 
A local school district may use the following abbreviations 
when completing Column 2: “Operating ALL” and “Operating 
NON-HOME”. “Operating ALL” is short for “Operating millage 
to be levied on ALL PROPERTIES in the local school 
district” such as Supplemental (Hold Harmless) Millages 
and Building and Site Sinking Fund Millages. “Operating 
NON-HOME” is short for “Operating millage to be levied on 
ALL PROPERTIES EXCLUDING PRINCIPAL RESIDENCE, 
QUALIFIED AGRICULTURAL, QUALIFIED FOREST AND 
INDUSTRIAL PERSONAL PROPERTIES in the local school 
district” such as the 18 mills in a district which does not levy 
a Supplemental (Hold Harmless) Millage. 

Column 3: Date of Election.  Enter the month and year 
of the election for each millage authorized by direct voter 
approval. 

Column 4: Millage Authorized.  List the allocated rate, 
charter aggregate rate, extra-voted authorized before 1979, 
each separate rate authorized by voters after 1978, debt 
service rate, etc. (This rate is the rate before any reductions.) 

Column 5: 2023 Millage Rate Permanently Reduced by 
MCL 211.34d (“Headlee”) Rollback. Starting with taxes 
levied in 1994, the “Headlee” rollback permanently reduces 
the maximum rate or rates authorized by law or charter. The 
2023 permanently reduced rate can be found in column 7 of 
the 2023 Form L-4029. For operating millage approved by 
the voters after April 30, 2023, enter the millage approved 
by the voters. For debt service or special assessments not 
subject to a millage reduction fraction, enter “NA” signifying 
“not applicable.” 

Column 6: Current Year Millage Reduction Fraction. 

treasurer for the current year as calculated on Form 2166 
(L-4034), 2024 Millage Reduction Fraction Calculations 
Worksheet. The millage reduction fraction shall be rounded 
to four (4) decimal places. The current year millage reduction 
fraction shall not exceed 1.0000 for 2024 and future years. 
This prevents any increase or “roll up” of millage rates. Use 

1.0000 for new millage approved by the voters after April 30, 
2024. For debt service or special assessments not subject 
to a millage reduction fraction, enter 1.0000. 

Column 7: 2024 Millage Rate Permanently Reduced 
by MCL 211.34d (“Headlee”) Rollback. The number in 
column 7 is found by multiplying column 5 by column 6 on 
this 2024 Form L-4029. This rate must be rounded DOWN 
to 4 decimal places. (See STC Bulletin No. 11 of 1999, 
Supplemented by Letter of 6/7/2000.) For debt service or 
special assessments not subject to a millage reduction 
fraction, enter “NA” signifying “not applicable.” 

Column 8: Section 211.34 Millage Rollback Fraction 
(Truth in Assessing or Truth in Equalization). List the 
millage rollback fraction for 2024 for each millage which 
is an operating rate. Round this millage rollback fraction 
to 4 decimal places. Use 1.0000 for school districts, for 
special assessments and for bonded debt retirement levies. 
For counties, villages and authorities, enter the Truth in 
Equalization Rollback Fraction calulated on STC Form 
L-4034 as TOTAL TAXABLE VALUE BASED ON CEV FOR 
ALL CLASSES/TOTAL TAXABLE VALUE BASED ON SEV 
FOR ALL CLASSES. Use 1.0000 for an authority located in 
more than one county. For further information, see State Tax 
Commission Bulletin 2 of 2024. For townships and cities, 
enter the Truth in Assessing Rollback Fraction calculated  on 
STC Form L-4034 as TOTAL TAXABLE VALUE BASED ON 
ASSESSED VALUE FOR ALL CLASSES/TOTAL TAXABLE 
VALUE BASED ON SEV FOR ALL CLASSES. The Section 
211.34 Millage Rollback Fraction shall not exceed 1.0000. 

Column 9: Maximum Allowable Millage Levy. Multiply 
column 7 (2024 Millage Rate Permanently Reduced by 
MCL 211.34d) by column 8 (Section 211.34 millage rollback 
fraction). Round the rate DOWN to 4 decimal places. (See 
STC Bulletin No. 11 of 1999, Supplemented by Letter of 
6/7/2000.) For debt service or special assessments not 
subject to a millage reduction fraction, enter millage from 
Column 4. 

Column 10/Column 11:  Millage Requested to be 
Levied.  Enter the tax rate approved by the unit of local 
government provided that the rate does not exceed the 
maximum allowable millage levy (column 9). A millage rate 
that exceeds the base tax rate (Truth in Taxation) cannot be 
requested unless the requirements of MCL 211.24e have 
been met. For further information, see State Tax Commission 
Bulletin 2 of 2024. A LOCAL School District which levies 
a Supplemental (Hold Harmless) Millage shall not levy a 
Supplemental Millage in excess of that allowed by MCL 
380.1211(3). Please see the memo to assessors dated 
October 26, 2004, regarding the change in the collection 
date of certain county taxes. 

Column 12:  Expiration Date of Millage. Enter the month 
and year on which the millage will expire. 

177



178



179



180



4/2/2024

181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



COUNTY OF LEELANAU 
JOB DESCRIPTION 

 
MAINTENANCE WORKER 

 
 
Supervised by: Maintenance Director 
FLSA: Non-Exempt 
 
 
General Summary: 
Under the general supervision of the County Administrator or the Maintenance Director, performs 
a variety of cleaning and custodial maintenance tasks to keep assigned County facilities and related 
areas in a clean and orderly condition. Also performs preventative maintenance and conducts 
routine repairs of the buildings and equipment and maintains grounds and county parks as 
assigned. 
 
Essential Job Functions: 
An employee in this position may be called upon to perform any or all of the following essential 
functions. These examples do not include all of the duties, which the employee may be expected to 
perform. An individual must be able to perform each essential function satisfactorily. 
 

• Dust mops and wet mops floors and stairways and operates vacuum to clean carpet 
areas. Spot cleans carpeted areas where necessary. 

 
• Periodically strips floors of old wax, applies fresh wax, and operates power buffer to 

polish floors. 
 

• Performs general custodial duties as assigned by the Maintenance Director. 
 

• Cleans and sanitizes drinking fountains and restrooms and floors, replenishing supplies 
and dispensers as needed. 

 
• Maintains security of buildings and  entrances on a regular schedule. 

 
• May perform minor maintenance tasks on electrical, plumbing and heating systems, 

boilers, compressors and other building equipment, replacing pipes, belts, bulbs, etc. 
and performs minor carpentry tasks. Notifies Maintenance Director of safety hazards or 
major repairs when they are necessary. 

 
• Sets up rooms for meetings in County facilities after regular work hours. 

 
• Removes ice and snow, mows and grooms trails, mows lawns and trims shrubbery, as 

conditions dictate, for all County grounds including County Parks. 
 

199



• May assist in maintenance of the Wastewater Treatment Plan and wellhouse, including 
irrigation systems, at the Government Center Complex. 
 

• May maintain and control the Leland Dam at Fishtown, as directed by the County 
Administrator or Maintenance Director, ensuring that the lake level is maintained in 
accordance with court order. 

 
• May be on 24 hour call, as directed by the County Administrator or Maintenance 

Director, ensuring that County buildings and grounds are secured and safe for all 
foreseeable users. 

 
• Performs related work as assigned or directed. 

 
Employment Qualifications: 
In addition to possession of a valid Michigan Operator’s license, the following is required: 
 
Education: Work requires a level of knowledge of reading, writing and arithmetic below that 

normally attained upon High School graduation. 
 
Experience: This is an entry-level classification. One year of building maintenance specific 

prior experience is required.  One to three month orientation period. 
 
Physical Demands and Work Environment: 
The physical demands and work environment characteristics described here are representative 
of those an employee encounters while performing the essential duties of the job. Reasonable 
accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform essential 
functions. 
 
While performing the duties of this job, the employee is regularly required to do the following: 
 

• Stand; walk; use hand to finger, handle, or feel; reach with hands and arms; and talk or 
hear. 
 

• Stoop, kneel, crouch, or crawl Must frequently lift and/or move objects of moderate to 
heavy weight. 

 
• While performing the duties of this job, the employee frequently works near moving 

mechanical parts and/or heavy equipment. The employee is occasionally exposed to wet 
and/or humid conditions; high precarious places, fumes or airborne particles, toxic or 
caustic chemicals; bloodborne pathogens; outside weather conditions; risk of electrical 
shock and vibration. The noise level in the work environment ranges from quiet to loud 
during certain assignments. 

 

200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



1

Lauren Cypher

From: Duane Flaska
Sent: Wednesday, May 8, 2024 7:52 AM
To: Lauren Cypher
Subject: FW: Community Projects 

Jobs performed by trunorth similar to myles kimmer park. 
 

From: Kelsey Bonnell <kbonnell@TruNorthLandscaping.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, May 7, 2024 2:52 PM 
To: Duane Flaska <dflaska@leelanau.gov> 
Subject: Community Projects  
 
Good A ernoon Dwayne,  
 
Below is a list of community project that are similar to what you are looking for. If you need anything else, please let me 
know.   
 
-Leland Children’s Center 
-Stepping Stones Daycare Center  
-Grand Traverse Industries(GTI) 
 
Thank you! 
 

 

Kelsey Bonnell 
AP Manager/Office Admin 

TruNorth Landscaping 

LLC 

   

 

 

231-922-0087  

 

 

KBonnell@trunorthlandscaping.com  

 

 

trunorthlandscaping.com  

 

 

9355 East Bingham Rd, Traverse 
City, MI 49684 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

210



211



212



To: County Board of Commissioner 

From:  Richard I. Lewis, Interim County Administrator 

Date: May 3, 2024 

Re: Creation of a Finance Department and Amendments to FY 2024 Budget Rules 

 

This memo will cover two items on the May 14, 2024 Executive Session. While there are two separate 

items for your discussion, they are interrelated in setting the foundation for the next County 

Administrator/Chief Financial Officer (CFO). What follows has been reviewed with County Clerk Michelle 

Crocker, Interim Finance Director Cathy Hartesvelt and Grand Traverse County Finance Director Dean 

Bott. Why Mr. Bott? My going outside the organization to assure what is being presented is best practice 

for County government. 

 

Creation of a Finance Department. 

On the November 2021 Regular Meeting, the Board of Commissioners (BOC) adopted the 

recommendation of the Finance Committee. From my perspective, there were two primary overriding 

recommendations: (1) appoint Cathy Hartesvelt as Interim Finance Director, reporting to the Board of 

Directors and (2) begin collaborative effort to move forward with Finance Department. The Board has 

made the decision that the next County Administrator will also be the County’s Chief Financial Officer 

and the individual selected will make the determination as to whom will serve as the Finance Director. 

This indicates the intention of having the Finance Director reporting to the County Administrator (CFO). 

The actions that need to take place to create the Finance Department are as follows: 

(1) Authorize the creation a Finance Department and eliminate the Accounting Department. The 

title of the Department would be Finance and Accounting Department. 

(2) Effective June 1, 2024, The Brief Employee Master List for the Finance and Accounting 

Department would consist of the Authorized Staffing Levels: 

 

Number of Positions Full Time Equivalents Classification Levels 

1 1 Finance Director 

1 1 Assistant Finance Director 

2 2 Account Clerk 

 

Effective June 1, 2024, The Finance Director position will be eliminated from the Brief Employee 

Master List of the Board of Commissioners. 

 

The position of Assistant Finance Director will not be filled until the County Administration/CFO 

is in place and recommend to the BOC. At this time, it is being request by the Interim Finance 

Director to hire an additional Account Clerk (included above). While the BOC recommended the 

hiring of an accounting clerk on a temporary full-time capacity, due to the work load, it is felt the 

213



position should be permanent full time. No additional funding for the operation of the Finance 

and Accounting Department are required at this time. 

(3) Effective June 1, 2024, remaining wages/benefits funds for the fiscal year within Board of 

Commissioners Department for the Finance Director position in the Board of Commissioners will 

be transferred to the Finance and Account Department. 

(4) Rescind the action of the BOC on November 11, 2023 for the Interim Finance Director reporting 

directly to the BOC. Cathy and I are working well together.  

The recommendation motion: move that the Board of Commissioners hereby authorizes the creation of 

the Finance and Accounting Department, approve the Authorizing of Staffing Levels including the 

addition of one (1) Account Clerk, transfer for funds from the County Commission Department to the 

Finance and Accounting Department and the Interim Finance Director reports to the County 

Administrator/CFO as outlined in the May 3, 2024 memorandum from the Interim County Administrator. 

 

Amendments to FY 2024 Budget Rules 

As I am listening to the County Commission and staff, most of the issues deal with process. Attached is 

the current and a proposed amended FY 2024 Budget Rules for consideration (a redline version is also 

attached). The primary changes to the rules deal with Paragraph 14, (increasing the limit for when a 

competitive bid is required and purchasing steps for purchases under $10,000) and Paragraph 15 (step to 

seek BOC prior approval for the waiving of competitive bidding). All of the other changes are grammar, 

spelling and changing of the County Administrator to County Administrator/CFO. 

My recommendation for increasing the limit before seeking competitive is because the $5,000 limit is 

gumming up the works. Yet there has to be a defined process and accountable. Please note that all 

purchases in excess of $10,000 will be competitively bid, not just capital projects and professional 

services. 

Look forward to the discussion. 

The recommendation motion: move that the amendments to FY 2024 Budget Rules be approved. 

 

 

214



LEELANAU COUNTY  
FY 2024 BUDGET RULES  
Amended May 21, 2024  

  
  

1. Department heads and/or elected officials are responsible for assuring that 
expenditures do not exceed approved budget(s) for their respective departments, and 
may authorize expenditures up to $4,500.00 per item.  Payment for all expenditures, 
however, is subject to approval by the Board of Commissioners through the regular 
monthly claimsclaim’s payment process.    

  
2. Capital purchases in excess of $5,000.00 shall be tagged and added to the county’s 
fixed asset inventory.  The department head and/or elected official are responsible for 
this requirement to occur after coordination of payment by the Accounting/Finance and 
Accounting Department.  

  
3. The County Administrator/Chief Financial Officer,  (CFO) on behalf of all 
departments, is responsible for procuring all capital items, professional services and/or 
service contracts in excess of $10,000.00 according to cCounty purchasing procedures and 
subject to proper advertising with all bids to be awarded by the Board of Commissioners 
at a regularly scheduled meeting.    

  
4. The Interim Finance Director shall be responsible for assuring that any transfer or 
expenditure in excess of an approved departmental budget is made only after approval 
of the Board of Commissioners and that all transfers or expenditures are charged to an 
approved departmental budget.  

  
5. The Interim Finance Director shall be responsible for assuring departmental 
budgets are charged for salaries and wages in accordance with the adopted Authorized 
Staffing Levels for their respective budgets.  

  
6. The approved Authorized Staffing Level contained in the budget shall limit the 
number of employees who can be employed. and nNo funds are to be appropriated for 
any position or employee not on the Authorized Staffing Level.  Further, the Board of 
Commissioners expressly prohibits department heads from utilizing personal service 
contracts to circumvent the intent of the Board of Commissioners in its action establishing 
Authorized Staffing Levels. The Board of Commissioners must specifically approve any 
deviations.   

  
7. Certain positions contained in the Authorized Staffing Level which are supported 
in some part by a grant, cost-sharing, or other source of outside funding, are only 
approved contingent upon the county receiving the anticipated revenues.  In the event 
outside funding is not received, or the county is notified that funding will not be received, 

215



then said positions shall be considered not funded and removed from the Authorized 
Staffing Level.    

  
8. The Finance Director shall be responsible for assuring that allotments to other 
agencies in excess of 25% of the approved annual budget in any calendar quarter are 
made only after the County Board of Commissioners has approved them.  
  
9. The Finance Director shall prepare and submit a monthly Budget Transfer and 
Expenditure Control Report to the Board of Commissioners prior to the regular monthly 
board meeting.  The Finance Director shall prepare the appropriate paperwork and 
submit it to the Board of Commissioners prior to the regular monthly board meeting.  This 
report shall be in a format as prescribed by the Board of Commissioners and shall be 
reconciled to the County Treasurer’s monthly Trial Balance.   

   
10. Any budget amendments or transfers of funds shall only occur after written 
recommendation of the Executive Board and after being approved by the Board of 
Commissioners, by resolution.  

  
11. Pursuant to county policy, vendors who enter into a service contract with the 
county shall furnish a certificate of insurance, unless waived, in acceptable form as 
determined by the Board of Commissioners and file the certificate with the County Clerk 
prior to the commencement of any work or delivery of service or product.  

   
12. All invoices, travel vouchers and payment requests must be submitted to the 
Accounting/Finance and Accounting Department for processing of payment on a timely 
basis, within the quarter the request was made.  

  
13.  All mileage for county owned vehicles will be charged to the account 940 Rental 
Charges in each respective budget using county owned vehicles.  The Motor Pool Fund 
661 will be credited with the mileage charges for county owned vehicles.  Any purchases 
of county owned vehicles would be charged to the Motor Pool Fund 661.  All repair and 
maintenance charges on county owned vehicles shall be charged to the respective 
budgets using county owned vehicles.  

  
14.  All purchases (including capital items and professional services) shall useing the following 
guidelines as established by the Board of Commissioners:  

  
Total Purchase Amount  Purchasing Process  Approving Entity  

Up to $999.99  Receipt  Department Head/Elected 
Official  

$1,000.00 to $4,499.99  Three Verbal quotes  Department Head/Elected 
Official  

$4,500.000 to $9,999.99  
Three Written quotes, 
contract, and budgeted.  

Department Head, County 
Administrator/CFO. County 

216



Administrator/CFO may 
request Board approval.  

$10,000 and above  

Competitive bid (sealed bids, 
proposals or qualifications). 
Minimum of three bids 
encouraged. State bids may 
be utilized when applicable.  

Department Head, County 
Administrator/CFO, Board of 
Commissioners approval  

      

services over $5,000.00 shall require the solicitation of competitive written sealed bids.  A 
minimum of three bids is encouraged.  State bids may be utilized when applicable.  
The Board of Commissioners through the regular monthly committee process will review all 
claims for potential payment.  

  
15. Competitive bidding may be waived by the County Board of Commissioners by an 
affirmative vote if the purchase is from or jointly with another unit of unit government, when an 
emergency exists, or when the public is best served without obtaining bids. It will be the 
responsibility of the Department Head and County Administrator/CFO to provide the rational for 
the waiver Waiving of the competitive bidding Waiving of the competitive bidding process shall 
be obtained prior to seeking proposals.The County Administrator may authorize expenditures up 
to $10,000.00 for unexpected items or services when according to the department head, the item 
or service requested can be paid from the department’s approved budget.  The Board of 
Commissioners through the regular monthly committee process will review all claims for 
potential payment.  
  
16. The County Adminstrator/CFO is authorized to execute only contracts/agreements that 
are within the spending authority as outline above.   
  
17. All donations received in excess of $500.00 on behalf of Leelanau County shall be 
approved by the Board of Commissioners.  The County Administrator shall provide monthly 
written reports outlining all donations received.  

  
a. Any non-cash donations, tangible goods and/or mercantile with an approximate 
value of over $250.00 donated to Leelanau County shall be approved by the Board of 
Commissioners prior to acceptance.   
b. Any proactive fundraising effort, as well as fundraising activity administrated 
through an external organization or vendor, must have prior Board approval, a 
stated end date and a specific restricted goal.  If there is an associated 
administrative fee associated with the fundraising method, there must also be Board 
approval of the fee.  If an external organization or vendor is utilized, proper controls 
over the account must be established by the Leelanau County Treasurer and Finance 
Director. When cumulative funds are received and exceed $500.00, they will be 
transferred from Trust and Agency to a special fund and held pursuant to Board 
Policy and Budget Rules. Once a special fund is created for the stated purpose, 
transfers may be for lesser amounts.   

217



  
18. Per diem rates will be as follows:    

$70.00/ Full Day  
$40.00/One Half Day  

  
19. The Board of Commissioners shall pay claims made against Leelanau County once per 
month after approval. Payments for post audit claims shall be authorized only under the 
following circumstances, for items within the approved budget:  
  

a. Implementation of any and all provisions of collective bargaining agreements and 
other compensation plans adopted by the Board of Commissioners including payroll, 
related county and employee taxes, and withholding payments.  

  
b. Any proactive fundraising effort, as well as fundraising activity administrated 
through an external organization or vendor, must have prior Board approval, a stated 
end date and a specific restricted goal. It there is an associated administrative fee 
associated with the fundraising method, there must also be Board approval of the fee. 
If an external organization or vendor is utilized, proper controls over the account by 
the Leelanau County Treasurer and Finance Director. When cumulative funds are 
received and exceed $500.00, they will be transferred from ‘Trust and Agency’ to a 
special fund and held pursuant to Board Policy and Budget Rules. Once the special 
fund is created for the stated purpose, transfers may be for lessor amounts.  

  
c. Payment of premiums on insurance policies and self-insurance pool fees including, 
but not limited to, health insurance, life insurance, dental insurance, unemployment 
insurance and others.  

  
d. Payments provided for within the provisions of any and all contracts and grants 
authorized by and approved by the Board of Commissioners or County 
Administrator/CFO under Item 15.  

  
e. Replenishment of imprestimpressed funds within the various departments to the 
extent provided in departmental budgets.  

  
f. Postage to the extent provided in departmental budgets.  

  
g. Jury, witness and attorney fees by order of the Circuit Court, District Court, and 
Probate Court.  

  
h. Any invoices providing for a discount if paid within a specified period provided 
such invoices shall not be paid in such time period will allow consideration by the 
Board of Commissioners without loss of discount and, further, provided that they 
have been budgeted in the departmental budget.  Additionally, any invoices not paid 

218



within a specified period, will be assessed a late payment penalty provided that they 
have been budgeted in the departmental budget.  

  
i. Any and all fuel charges.  

  
j. Any and all utility billings.  

  
k. Travel advances, registration, and mileage reimbursement to the extent provided 
in departmental budgets.  

  
l. Department of Health and Human Services payments.  

  
m. State of Michigan payments.  

  
n. Any emergency claim as authorized by the County Administrator/CFO requiring 
payment prior to the next Board of Commissioners meeting.  

  
o. Any other payments prescribed by law.  

  
p. Refunds.  

 

219



220



221



222



EXECUTIVE DOCUMENT SUMMARY 

Department: Board of Commissioners G Submittal Dates 

Contact Person: Richard I. Lewis Oselect Meeting Type: Executive Board [:] 

Telephone Number: Date of Meeting: 05/14/2024 

Financial/Source Selection Method 

Oselect One: Negotiated

D0ther: 

0Account No.: 

DC/P Project? 

Oit Gront, Match Account No.: 

El 
vendor: Point Broadband Fiber Holdings

Address/ 617 E Lake St 
Phone: Stanton, Ml 48888 

Description: Amendment 

Budgeted Amount: $ 0.00 Contracted Amount: 

Document Description 

$ 0.00 

[:) 

D Request to Waive Board Policy on Bid Requirements 0Financial Review Completed 0Department Head/Elected Official Authorization 

Please find attached Amendment #3 to the current agreement with Point Broadband Fiber Holdings, LLC 
and Leelanau County regarding the delivery of broadband services to areas of unserved homes in the 
County. Chair Ty Wessell, Vice-Chair Doug Rexroat, Legal Council Matt Nordfjord, Consultant Chris Scharrer 
and myself were the team representing the County on this issue. It is recommended that approve 
Amendment No. 3. 

There are three primary points of the amendment, provided as an update at the April 16, 2024 County 
Commission Regular Meeting: 

1. All of the cabinets, except for 1, 2 and 7, as listed in Attachment A, will be completed and paid by on or 
before December 31, 2024. This represents 96% of the unserved homes as identified in Attachment A.
2. Cabinets 1, 2, and 7, located in the Elmwood and Bingham Townships will be completed by the end of 
August 2025.
3. A Performance Bond in the amount of $3,200,000 shall be provided to the County within thirty (30) 
days of execution of the Amendment #3. A Performance Bond was not in the original agreement. 

The fourth primary point of the amendment deals with an issue of gaining private easements. As outlined in 
Section 1 Point Broadband will used their best efforts to acquire the easements. When those best efforts fail, 
the issue will be brought to County to seek assistance. If the assistance fails, then a tie off will be made. The 
steps for this process are suggested as follows: 
a. Point Broadband notifies and documents to the County, through its Administrator and Consultant, that 

best efforts to acquire private easements have failed.
b. Administrator and consultant investigate. If not in agreement with Point Broadband, further efforts are to 

be undertaken for an additional thirty (30) days. If in agreement, Administration send letter via registered 
mail to the property owners to be effected. Property owners will be advised they have thirty (30) to provide 
the easement to Point Broadband with future installation may be at their expense.
c. If easement is not granted, then Point Broadband will be authorized to pass. 

Suggested Recommendation: 

Move to recommend that the County Board of Commissioners approve and authorize the County Chair to 
execute Amendment No. 3 to Fiber Optic Broadband Network Construction Agreement. 

/7. ;� / 

Department Approval: � LA dt/ ;-x./,u_ �
' 

(/' 
Date: 05/09/2024

223



AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO 

FIBER OPTIC BROADBAND NETWORK 

CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 3, is made and entered into by and between the COUNTY OF LEELANAU, 
a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Michigan, whose administration offices are 
located at 8527 E. Government Center Dr., Suite 101, Suttons Bay, MI 49682- 9718 (hereinafter referred to as the 
“County”), and POINT BROADBAND FIBER HOLDINGS, LLC, with offices located in the State of 
Michigan at 617 E. Lake St., Stanton, MI 48888 (hereinafter referred to as “Point Broadband”), amends all previous 
Fiber Optic Broadband Network Construction Agreement, as amended by Amendment Nos. 1 and 2, (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Agreement”) made between the parties as set forth below.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the Parties 
agree to amend the Agreement as follows: 
 

1. Section I. Agreement Period and Termination, page 2, of the above-stated Agreement shall be 
amended by adding a third paragraph which shall read as follows: 

 
“The Parties agree that Point Broadband will complete the underserved locations outlined in the new 
Attachment A, attached to this Agreement’s Amendment No. 3 and incorporated herein, which defines 
and amends the scope of the Project. The Parties acknowledge that Point Broadband will use 
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain private easements that are necessary for Point Broadband to 
construct its network and to be able to provide service to homes or addresses included in Appendix A 
that do not have a public utility easement or rights-of-way.  If Point is unable to obtain a private 
easement required to provide service to a home or address included in Attachment A, it will contact 
the County to seek assistance.  If neither Point Broadband nor the County can obtain a private easement 
required to offer broadband service to a home on Attachment A, the parties will waive such a home or 
address from the construction and service requirement set forth in this Agreement.   Point Broadband 
agrees to complete 96% of unserved homes identified in Attachment A before December 31, 2024 (all 
the cabinets except 1, 2, and 7; cabinets 3, 8, and 9 are completed and paid as of the effective date of 
Amendment No. 3; cabinets 5 and 6 are completed, pending approval), and to complete all of the 
construction identified in Attachment A by the end of August 2025 (cabinets 1, 2 and 7).   The Parties 
recognize the importance of delivering broadband services to these unserved homes and that TIME IS 

OF THE ESSENCE.” 
 
2. The Scope contained in Attachment A in this Amendment 3 supersedes and amends all previous 

Scopes and any of the previous Agreements.  
   

3. Section XVIII. Liability Insurance, pages 9-10, of the above-stated Agreement shall be amended to 
change the Section’s subtitle to “Section XVIII. Liability Insurance and Bond Requirements and to add a third 
paragraph which shall read as follows: 

 
“Point Broadband agrees that within thirty (30) days of the effective date of Amendment No. 3 of this 
Agreement it shall have obtained the bonds required by this section from surety company(ies) 
acceptable to the County. All bonds shall be with surety companies licensed and admitted to do 
business in the State of Michigan, be listed in the most recently revised U.S. Department of Treasury’s 
Listing of Approved Sureties set forth in the Department’s Circular 570, and have an A.M. Best 
Company insurance reports rating of A or A- (Excellent).  Point Broadband shall ensure that all 
subcontractors covered under this Agreement are also covered by bonds meeting the requirements of 
this section. The bonds to be provided shall include the following: 

 

224



A.  Performance Bond – Point Broadband, as Principal, shall furnish a Surety Bond in a form 
acceptable to the County in an amount not less than $3,200,000.00 as security for faithful 
performance of this Agreement and completion within the timelines set forth in the third 
paragraph added to this Agreement’s Section I by the Agreement’s Amendment No. 3. The 
County shall be the Obligee under said bond.  The bond shall guarantee the faithful 
performance and shall indemnify and save harmless the Obligee from all costs and damages 
by reason of the Principal’s failure to perform in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement. This Agreement, as amended, by reference, shall be an integral part of the bond. 

 
B.  The Performance Bond shall be submitted within thirty (30) calendar days of the effective 

date of Amendment No. 3 to this Agreement to Richard I. Lewis, Interim County 

Administrator, Leelanau County Administration, Leelanau County Government Center, 

8527 E. Government Center Dr., Suite 101, Suttons Bay, MI 49682-9718, with a copy to 

the Project Manager, Chris Scharrer, DCS Technology Design, LLC, 801 McKinley Rd., 

Chelsea, MI 48118. 

 
C.  Additional or Substitute Bond – If at any time the County, for a justifiable cause, shall become 

dissatisfied with any Sureties providing the Performance Bond, Point Broadband shall, within 
five (5) business days after such notice from the County to do so, substitute an acceptable 
bond(s) in such forms and sum and issued by such other Surety as may be satisfactory to the 
County.  Point Broadband shall pay the premiums on such bond(s).  No further payments shall 
be deemed due nor shall be made until the new Surety or Sureties shall have furnished such an 
acceptable bond to the County. 

 
D. The bond(s) obtained by Point Broadband shall be reviewed and approved by the County and 

remain in effect until the completion of the entire Project to the County’s satisfaction.”  
 
4. The Schedule of Values (SOV) included in Section VII of Attachment A in the above-stated 

Agreement, as amended by the Agreement’s Amendment No. 2, remains in effect except to the extent it is amended 
by the terms contained in this Amendment No. 3. 

 
5. All other terms and conditions contained in the above-stated Agreement shall remain in full force and 

effect except as modified herein. This Amendment shall become effective on the date in which it has been signed by 
the authorized representatives of both the County and Point Broadband. 

 
6. The people signing this Amendment on behalf of the parties to the above-stated Agreement certify 

by their signatures that they are duly authorized to sign this Amendment to the Agreement on behalf of said parties 
and that this Amendment has been authorized by said parties. 

 
THE AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES OF THE COUNTY OF LEELANAU AND POINT 

BROADBAND FIBER HOLDING, LLC HAVE FULLY EXECUTED THIS AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO THE 

FIBER OPTIC BROADBAND NETWORK CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT, AS AMENDED BY 

AMENDMENTS NO. 1 AND NO. 2, IN THE SPACES AND ON THE DATES PROVIDED BELOW. 

 

COUNTY OF LEELANAU   POINT BROADBAND FIBER HOLDING, LLC 
 

By: _____________________________________ By: _________________________________________ 
Ty Wessell, Chairman       (Signature)    

 County Board of Commissioners  Name: _____________________________________ 
          (Print or Type) 
Date:___________________________________ Title: ______________________________________ 
          (Print or Type) 
       Date: ______________________________________ 

225



APPROVED AS TO FORM FOR COUNTY OF LEELANAU: 

COHL, STOKER & TOSKEY, P.C. 

By: Mattis D. Nordfjord  

On: May 8, 2024 

N:N:\Client\Leelanau\Agreements\Point Broadband\Amendment 3 to Leelanau PBB Agreement (final) 5.8.24.docx

226



 
ATTACHMENT A 

 

Cabinet Name Unserved Parcels/Addresses Percentage of Reimbursement Reimbursement Due Upon Completion

Leelanau_CAB01 52 1.48% $70,130.61

Leelanau_CAB02 51 1.45% $68,781.94

Leelanau_CAB03 241 6.84% $325,028.39

Leelanau_CAB04 181 5.14% $244,108.46

Leelanau_CAB05 113 3.21% $152,399.20

Leelanau_CAB06 214 6.08% $288,614.42

Leelanau_CAB07 35 0.99% $47,203.29

Leelanau_CAB08 562 15.96% $757,950.03

Leelanau_CAB09 37 1.05% $49,900.62

Leelanau_CAB10 545 15.47% $735,022.71

Leelanau_CAB11 167 4.74% $225,227.14

Leelanau_CAB12 629 17.86% $848,310.62

Leelanau_CAB13 432 12.27% $582,623.51

Leelanau_CAB14 263 7.47% $354,699.03

Grand Total 3522 100.00% $4,750,000.00

227


	3. Poor Barn.Final Decision Notice.pdf
	8527 E. Government Center Dr.   Suite 109

	13. Senior Services bidsheet_2024-001_SS.pdf
	Opened by: Lauren Cypher
	Present: Lauren Cypher, Lena Vander Meulen, Alison Middleton
	Recorded by: Alison Middleton

	26. Job Description - Maintenance Worker FINAL.pdf
	MAINTENANCE WORKER
	General Summary:


	Contact Person: Andrew Giguere
	Telephone Number: 231-256-9823
	Date of Meeting: 05/14/2024
	Vendor: 
	undefined_2: Approval of L-4029
	undefined_3: 
	Phone: 
	undefined_4: 
	Budgeted Amount: 
	Contracted Amount: 
	Text1:  The FY 2024 L-4029 Tax Rate Request must be completed and submitted to the Equalization Department in order to allow time to prepare the summer tax bills, which are due by July 1st. The L-4029 must be signed by both the County Clerk and the County Board Chairperson.
	Department: [Equalization]
	Meeting Type: [Executive Board]
	Text4: I move to recommend to the County Board of Commissioners to approve a millage rate that does not exceed the maximum allowable millage levy (column 9) and place that millage rate in column 10 as the millage rate requested to be levied on July 1 and return the L-4029 to the Equalization Director.
	Check Box6: Yes
	Check Box7: 
	0: Off
	1: Yes
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off

	Check Box8: 
	0: Off
	1: Off

	Dropdown10: [Select One]
	Dropdown11: [FYI/Review/Update]
	Text12: Description:
	Text13: 04/18/2024


